
   

 

  

   

 

 

 

 



About Lilly Endowment

Lilly Endowment Inc. is an Indianapolis-based private philanthropic foundation created in 1937 by three 
members of the Lilly family – J.K. Lilly Sr. and sons J.K. Jr. and Eli – through gifts of stock in their pharmaceutical
business, Eli Lilly and Company.

Gifts of stock in Eli Lilly and Company remain the financial bedrock of the Endowment. We are, however, 
a separate entity from the company, with a distinct governing board, staff and location.

In keeping with the wishes of the three founders, Lilly Endowment exists to support the causes of community
development, education and religion. The Endowment affords special emphasis to projects that benefit young 
people and that promote the causes of philanthropy and volunteerism.

The Lilly family’s foremost priority was to help the people of their city and state build a better life. Although 
the Endowment also supports efforts of national significance and an occasional international project,
we remain primarily committed to our hometown, Indianapolis, and home state, Indiana.
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As the Endowment enters into its 75th anniversary year,

we reflect especially on one of its enduring values – per-

severance. Within the Endowment’s programmatic and

geographic areas of interest are many compelling causes

and challenges that perennially need attention. More 

always can be done to increase the number of Hoosiers

who are adequately educated for meaningful work to

sustain themselves and their families. There always will

be new paintings to be exhibited and new symphonies

and plays to be written. Pastors and congregations 

continually will strive to deepen the faith and enhance

the spiritual lives of their members, and unfortunately,

there will continue to be individuals and families who

are in need due to the vicissitudes of life – health 

issues, economic disruptions, lack of education and so

forth. And in this globally competitive context in which

we live, Indiana must continue to progress because

much of the world is advancing on every front.

Perseverance is required to address these ongoing

purposes and challenges. There are few quick fixes in any

of these matters. To achieve sustainable impact, long-

term strategies are required. Accordingly, the Endow-

ment for years has worked to help establish or sustain

organizations that play intermediary roles in key areas of

interest. They assemble relevant data about their areas of

endeavor; provide educational programs and services;
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Executive Message

When J.K. Lilly and his two sons, Eli and J.K. Jr., established Lilly Endowment
nearly 75 years ago in the midst of the Great Depression, they likely could not have en-
visioned that their magnificent generosity would result in grants totaling more than $7.7
billion. Over the years, our predecessors and we have taken their legacy seriously. We feel
a deep sense of responsibility to ensure that the resources derived from their philanthropy
continue to be allocated in ways that comport with their values and interests. Therefore,
the Endowment steadfastly adheres to awarding grants in the three areas of community
development, education and religion that they prioritized, and, except for the field of
religion, we maintain a principal grantmaking focus on Indianapolis and Indiana in
accordance with their wishes. We intend to persevere in these practices.

Perseverance is the secret of all triumphs —VICTOR HUGO

J.K. Lilly Eli Lilly J.K. Lilly Jr.



convene the relevant stakeholders and help forge con-

sensus and collaboration; marshal resources to address

important needs; and create and maintain frameworks

that support and enhance the impact of existing and

new initiatives.

Among these intermediary organizations are the

United Way of Central Indiana for the human services

field; the Arts Council of Indianapolis for arts and culture;

the Indiana Sports Corp. for amateur sports organiza-

tions and initiatives; the Indiana Youth Institute and the

Marion County Commission on Youth for the youth 

development field; the Indianapolis Center for Congrega-

tions for Indiana congregations; the Association of 

Theological Schools in the United States and Canada for

seminaries and theological schools; and the Central Indiana

Corporate Partnership Foundation for BioCrossroads, its

initiative for life sciences, and Conexus, its initiative for

advanced manufacturing and logistics. Their important

roles and work have been highlighted in previous 

Endowment annual reports.

This report features the work of a few more of

these organizations. The Indianapolis Neighborhood

Housing Partnership, the Local Initiatives Support Corp.

and the Indianapolis Neighborhood Resource Center are

highlighted in a story about their efforts to build stronger

neighborhoods in Indianapolis. The myriad efforts of the

International Center of Indianapolis to advance Indiana’s

global presence and awareness are described in a second

story. A third story details the many ways that the Center

of Excellence in Leadership of Learning at the University

of Indianapolis promotes and fosters sustainable K-12 

education reform in Indiana.

The stories demonstrate the integral role these interme-

diary organizations play in our community and state. They

provide services to and receive support from various busi-

nesses, including Dow AgroSciences, Cummins, JPMorgan

Chase Bank, Eli Lilly and Co., Shiel Sexton Co., and many

others. They also engage people from all walks of life, 

including teachers, principals, neighborhood leaders, inter-

national residents and visitors, community development 

organizations, first-time homeowners, schools, and 

colleges and universities. We are grateful to their boards

and staffs for creating tapestries of interwoven connections

that strengthen and enhance the quality of life in our

city and state.

In the field of religion, the Endowment’s long-

standing concerns about the economic challenges faced

by pastors throughout the country are addressed in the

fourth story in this report. The Endowment’s Initiative to

Address Economic Challenges Facing Indiana Pastors has

revealed much new information about the dynamics 

relating to such challenges from the perspectives of pastors,

congregations, seminaries and denominations. Substan-

tial progress is being made. While the funding under this

initiative has gone to Indiana denominational judicatories,

the insights, strategies and lessons learned are valuable

and applicable throughout the country.

This report can feature stories on the work of only

a few of the Endowment’s grantees. Following these stories

is a listing of all the grants the Endowment approved in

2011. It is important to note that each grant, no matter

what the size, supports the creativity, vision, spirit and

persistence of myriad individuals who do the real work of

enhancing other people’s quality of life. The Endowment

is most grateful for their efforts and contributions.

Thomas M. Lofton, Chairman

N. Clay Robbins, President
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But the young couple was repeatedly rebuffed

in their attempts. “It was always something, some

reason we couldn’t qualify for a mortgage,” says

Kevin. “We didn’t earn enough, or our credit score

was too low, or the down payment was too much.”

For three years, Kevin and Coree Bennett tried to become homeowners.
Tired of renting apartments and moving every few years, they longed
for the stability that homeownership would provide. 

Supporting neighborhoods
Help forwhere people live

With knowledge, a plan and confidence gleaned from Indianapolis

Neighborhood Housing Partnership programs, the Bennetts found

their first home. Baby Lillian, Coree and Kevin wait for Sophie, 3, 

to catch up. Kevin claims, “It’s nice to cut your own grass.”

They wanted a place of their own where they

could rear children and a neighborhood where they

could put down roots in Indianapolis.

In theory, buying into the American dream of

homeownership should have been a natural next

step for the Bennetts. When they began house hunt-

ing a few years ago, interest rates were historically

low, and a sluggish real-estate market brought home

prices down to more affordable levels. Kevin had

established a computer repair business, and Coree was

working and attending college to finish her degree 

in accounting.



When an acquaintance suggested the couple

contact the Indianapolis Neighborhood Housing

Partnership (INHP) for help in purchasing their first

home, Kevin was skeptical. “I thought, ‘What’s the

catch?’ It just didn’t seem like anyone would be able

to help us,” he says. “Why would they?” INHP, how-

ever, proved to be just the help the Bennetts needed.

Since its founding in 1988 with Lilly Endowment

support, INHP has been committed to its mission 

of increasing safe, decent and affordable housing 

opportunities to ensure that Indianapolis maintains

healthy, viable neighborhoods. It offers homeowner-

ship education, one-on-one mortgage and credit

counseling, guidance to find an affordable loan product,

and post-purchase support. Through its lending

pool, INHP offers direct loans as well as referrals to

lender partners.

The Bennetts took advantage of eight hours of

INHP’s home-buyer education classes, which prepare

families for the complicated process of buying a

home and covering subjects such as home inspections,

mortgage rates, tax implications and insurance. INHP

also advised them on ways to shape up their credit

scores, save for a down payment, and learn money-

management strategies to monitor the ongoing costs

of home ownership, such as house payments and

repairs. The homeownership counseling “forced us

to look at how we spend every penny,” Kevin says.

“The home-buyer class taught us what to expect at

every step. It gave us the tools to be successful.”

Armed with knowledge, a financial plan and

a mortgage program for which they qualified, the 

Bennetts zeroed in on a neighborhood they liked

on the Southside and in 2010 purchased a suburban

four-bedroom home with a two-car garage, a family

room and a big backyard with mature trees – perfect

for a family that includes their daughters, 3-year-old

Sophie and Lillian, nearly 1. The property was in

foreclosure, so the Bennetts got a bargain, but so 

did the neighborhood. The formerly vacant house

became a family home again.

“INHP is really the master of what it does. 

It works,” Kevin says. “We love feeling part of this

neighborhood. It’s awesome! And it’s nice to cut your

own grass.”

Focused on mission
Operating with the belief that a city’s
overall vitality lies in neighborhoods that
thrive, INHP is one of a network of organi-
zations working to improve the economic and 

physical conditions in Indianapolis, house by house

and block by block.

Since 1988 the Endowment has awarded nearly

$110 million in grant funding to INHP, including

$5.3 million awarded in 2011. The nationally recog-

nized organization has leveraged that support by 

coordinating efforts with a cadre of partners – the city

of Indianapolis, financial institutions, community 

development corporations, and for-profit develop-

ment corporations – to help expand the supply of 

affordable housing in Marion County.

“We’re very focused on enabling low- and 

moderate-income families to become long-term

homeowners,” says Moira Carlstedt, INHP president.
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Moira Carlstedt, president of INHP, works to leverage the in-

vestments of the Endowment and several financial institutions to

promote homeownership for low- and moderate-income families.



“Because we’ve stayed true to that mission, we’ve

been able to strengthen and enhance what we do

and, through research and relationships, identify the

areas where we have challenges as a community.”

In 2011 INHP invested $14.5 million in financing

for low- and moderate-income families to purchase

or repair their homes. Nearly 2,300 individuals grad-

uated from an INHP education program, and 240

families closed on a mortgage to purchase, repair or

improve their home in 2011, either through a referral

to a local financial institution or through the INHP

direct lending program. Despite the fact that 96 per-

cent of the families with a loan from INHP had an

income at or below 80 percent of Indianapolis’ area

median income, a 2010 study by Ohio State Univer-

sity, the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago and the

U.S. Office of the Comptroller of the Currency

showed that INHP buyers were less likely than most

buyers to default.

That’s gratifying to INHP, where the focus is 

on helping, but with a business approach to sound 

financial management that results in a healthy bot-

tom line and the trust of its private-sector investors

and partners. “Otherwise, we can’t help families that

need assistance,” Carlstedt says.

Al Smith, president, Chase Central Indiana, has

served on the INHP board for many years. “Over the

years, INHP has galvanized the support of financial

institutions in our community for its programs to

help provide affordable housing to low-income 

residents,” he says. “It has played

a crucial role in our community’s

efforts to improve the quality of

life in Indianapolis neighborhoods.

By strategically marshaling the 

resources of local financial 

institutions, INHP has enabled

them to magnify the impact of

their investments for the better-

ment of our community.”

Led by JPMorgan Chase Bank,

Huntington Bank, BMO Harris

and Old National Bank, private-

sector financial institutions have

invested more than $118 million

during the past 15 years in six

INHP multibank loan pools. The

current loan pool reflects a total

commitment of $22 million from

13 different financial institutions

in INHP’s direct lending program.

Nothin’ better than home. The Bennett

family takes a play break in the living room.

Until they turned to INHP, their house-hunt-

ing efforts were discouraging.



INHP also refers graduates of its housing counseling

programs to local financial institutions for mortgage

loans. Since 2000 more than $169 million in mort-

gage loans has been issued through the INHP lender

referral program.

“INHP is one of the best-run organizations in

Central Indiana,” says Ellen Annala, former INHP

board chair and president and CEO of United Way

of Central Indiana, which appoints five of INHP’s 

25 board members. “They are focused on outcomes

when it comes to helping families, and they work

collaboratively with a variety of other organizations

that enhance the quality of life in neighborhoods.”

“We know we are part of a bigger infrastructure,”

says Carlstedt. “We stand as part of a comprehensive

approach in Indianapolis. We don’t duplicate. 

We leverage resources and identify and nurture 

relationships.”

One of the key organizations with which INHP

collaborates regularly is the Local Initiatives Support

Corp. (LISC), a national nonprofit that helps local

community development corporations in low-income

neighborhoods improve their physical and economic

conditions. LISC works at the neighborhood level by

supporting housing and commercial projects, and it

provides operating, technical and financial advice and

assistance to local community development corpora-

tions. LISC Indianapolis Executive Director William

(Bill) Taft says, “In some cases, LISC has assisted with

building homes in neighborhoods that haven’t seen

new construction in decades, and INHP has helped

provide mortgages for new homeowners.”

Eastside had a plan
In recent years, INHP, LISC and a host of
other partners have worked collaboratively
to create a structure of support for Indianapolis
neighborhoods. Fixing broken neighborhoods re-

quires a comprehensive approach, according to Taft.

“Comprehensive community development includes

the entire life of the community: housing, education,

recreation, health and safety, and commerce,” he says.

“Neighborhoods are complex. Doing one or two

things will not change a neighborhood that has 

declined. Real change has to be community-based

and unique to the neighborhood. The Endowment

has given us the resources to bring best practices in

community development from across the country to

the city to work at real change,” says Taft. For nearly

20 years the Endowment has provided ongoing support

of $10.5 million, including $550,000 in 2011, for

LISC’s work in Indianapolis.

One of the most visible examples of “real

change” is the Super Bowl Legacy Project. In 2008,

when the National Football League announced that

Indianapolis had won its bid to host the 2012 Super

Bowl, a vision for the Near Eastside, a struggling

44-square-block area a mile east of Downtown, 

unfolded, too.
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LISC’s Bill Taft (left) and James Taylor, CEO of the Boner Center,

survey the YET logo (Youth Education Town) in the new community

center. The NFL supports the creation of YETs in each city that 

hosts a Super Bowl. 



has transformed the empty Indianapolis Public

School 3.

According to Mark Miles, president and CEO

of the Central Indiana Corporate Partnership and

chairman of the Indianapolis Super Bowl host

committee, “Over the years, LISC’s intermediary

role in engaging and supporting individuals and

organizations alike in improving the quality of life

in the Near Eastside was critical to the success of

the Super Bowl Legacy Project. LISC’s work helped

set the stage for these impressive developments.”

“Long after the Super Bowl is a memory, the

investments will pay dividends,” Taft says. “All

these improvements arose from the GINI planning

effort that had been in place for years. The Super

Bowl just created more excitement and made things

happen in a faster and bigger way than they ever

would have.”

Of boutiques & groceries
Heather McMullen moved from suburbia
to the Englewood neighborhood on the Near
Eastside six years ago, attracted to the charms
of the area’s old homes. Now more than ever, she

appreciates the community that has worked its way

up from decline.

“I live on a street with 40 houses. I know the name

of every child on the street and their pets’ names,

too,” she says. “We’re not going to hide the fact that

bad things happen here, but those challenges cause

us to be a tighter-knit community. The nice thing

about what has happened here with LISC and the

Legacy Project is that it has helped shine a spotlight

on the good things that happen.”
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(this page and opposite) The Chase Near Eastside Community

Center, spanking new on the campus of Arsenal Technical High

School in Indianapolis, was built as part of the Super Bowl Legacy

Project. A years-long history of working and planning together in

local initiatives primed the Near Eastside to capitalize on the 

Super Bowl project.

LISC, which had been assisting the Near East-

side with a quality-of-life plan as part of its Endow-

ment-funded Great Indy Neighborhoods Initiative

(GINI), helped steer the Indianapolis Super Bowl

bid committee toward the area. With the sustained

leadership of the John H. Boner Community Center,

an Eastside anchor, residents and community groups

already had been working there for years to turn

around their troubled part of town. With a commit-

ment from the NFL and dozens of corporate and

nonprofit partners, including the Endowment and

LISC, the Super Bowl Legacy Project was under way.

Among the lasting legacies is the Chase Near

Eastside Legacy Center on the grounds of Arsenal

Technical High School. The center houses an NFL

Youth Education Town (YET), which offers an array

of programs for area youth through partnerships

with several community organizations. The center

also provides more than 27,000 square feet of facilities

for fitness, media, computer, greenhouse, kitchen

and art activities for young and old alike. The 

Endowment provided $5.5 million for the center. 

Also, several new residential developments 

materially enhance life in the area. Neighbors point

to the St. Clair Senior Apartments, which provide 33

new one- and two-bedroom apartments, and the

Commonwealth, a 32-unit apartment building that



Since moving to the Near Eastside, McMullen

has been active with the East 10th Street Civic Associ-

ation. One of her tasks in 2008 was to help sign up

residents for its fledgling business incubator, which

helped her develop her own concept for a retail store

that sells high-quality new and gently used children’s

apparel and locally crafted items.

Her shop, the Little Green Bean Boutique,

moved out of the incubator space in 2010 and into a

storefront of its own in a cluster of new businesses

lining East 10th Street, including Pogue’s Run Gro-

cer, a cooperative grocery offering healthy, nutritious

food options. For a neighborhood that for many

years has had no grocery for its 40,000 residents, this

is a major breakthrough.

Both the Little Green Bean Boutique and

Pogue’s Run Grocer benefited from technical assis-

tance, façade improvement and other grants to the

East 10th Street Civic Association through the LISC

program called Fostering Commercial Urban Strate-

gies (FOCUS). FOCUS has leveraged more than $46

million in direct capital investment to help attract

and improve local businesses. It also has underwrit-

ten more than $1 million in loans for commercial

development in urban Indianapolis neighborhoods.

From 2008 through 2010, FOCUS business 

corridors attracted 100 new businesses that provide 

employment, allow residents to shop closer to home,

and bring more people to the neighborhood for unique

shopping experiences. In 2012 LISC will add three

new corridors to its FOCUS program, including the

East Washington Street area, which is working to

bring job-creating businesses – not just traditional

retail services – to an area starved for good jobs.

And the work continues on the Near Eastside,

where FOCUS is assisting the East 10th Street Civic

Association with development of a large, mixed-use

commercial and apartment project. Called Clifford

Corners, it entirely redevelops a formerly blighted

block. “Every day you hear about something new

happening,” McMullen says. “It’s exciting. That’s the

feel of the whole Near Eastside now.”

Not just façades
Another partner in building stronger 
Indianapolis neighborhoods is the Indi-
anapolis Neighborhood Resource Center
(INRC), which frequently collaborates with INHP

and LISC in comprehensive community development.

Founded in 1994 with the support of the Endow-

ment, INRC works to engage residents to improve

the quality of life in neighborhoods.

Volunteers lead almost all of Marion County’s

750 registered neighborhood-based organizations.

Many have strong core volunteer leadership but need

help engaging more neighbors in their efforts and 

in identifying and pulling together all the resources

available to them, according to Anne-Marie Taylor,

executive director of INRC. By building on its experi-

ences and the best practices learned as a partner in

the GINI planning effort, INRC continues to find

ways to “dive deeper into community building,” 

Taylor says.

In 2009 INRC was selected by the Corporation

for National and Community Service to recruit and

place young people ages 18-40 as AmeriCorps Public

Allies in nonprofit agencies across the city. Participants

like Indianapolis resident Larry J. Morris III worked

four days per week at an agency and participated 

in training and education one day per week for 
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10 months, earning a modest stipend – and loads of

experience in community development.

Fresh from another AmeriCorps experience in

Washington, Morris was placed as a youth coordina-

tor at Hawthorne Community Center in the tough

Westside Haughville neighborhood, where he tu-

tored youth, supervised the gym, escorted students

on college tours and organized a community service

project. He also worked in the Community Heights

neighborhood on the Eastside, helping community

members organize the first annual Community

Heights Skills Swap, a family-focused event where

neighbors could meet, share food, enjoy music and

showcase their skills and talents.

“The Public Allies program allowed me to see

the resources that Indianapolis has,” Morris says.

“When I was in Washington, I honestly didn’t want to

come back to Indiana. Public Allies, however, showed

me the potential we have here. I saw like-minded 

individuals who have a passion for public service.”

Morris hopes to finish his college degree and

work in a youth-serving organization, but he’s still

involved with Public Allies, volunteering as an alum-

nus of the program and working on one of the INRC

programs he found most meaningful: race relations

dialogue circles. Working in cooperation with St.

Luke’s United Methodist Church, the circles bring 

together diverse members of the Indianapolis com-

munity to discuss one of the touchiest of all subjects.

“Many cities have ‘dialogue-to-change circles’ in

response to a crisis,” Morris says. “It made me feel

good that we have been able to create a place where

people feel comfortable talking honestly about how

race affects them outside a crisis context.” The dia-

logue circles are an example of how INRC works to

build relationships – not only neighbor-to-neighbor

but also among diverse individuals and community

groups. “Fostering better race relations is essential to

building stronger neighborhoods.”

Taylor agrees with Carlstedt and Taft that there

is a collaborative spirit in Indianapolis. “With 

Endowment support, INRC, INHP and LISC have

been working together for more than 15 years on a

range of initiatives and programs aimed at building

a better quality of life in Indianapolis’ neighbor-

hoods,” she says. “Sustained, comprehensive efforts

are what it takes to address the complex set of 

challenges that neighborhoods face.” 

Anne-Marie Taylor (right), executive director of the Indianapolis

Neighborhood Resource Center, drops in on the KI EcoCenter, an 

organization that is active in study circles, youth programming and

in developing the Mid-North Plan for Indianapolis. However, first

things first. Chinyelu Mwaafrika (left), 12, needs an answer to a filter

“situation.” The kids are into aquaponics (a system in which fish

and crops can grow simultaneously), and a working filter is a must. 

Taylor and INRC staffers regularly visit neighborhood organizations

(more than 750 in Indianapolis) to engage residents in issues of 

collaboration, development, planning and resources. But do they

know aquaponics?

“It made me feel good that we have been able to create a

place where people feel comfortable talking honestly about how 

race affects them outside a crisis context.”



When Rajan Gajaria moved his family from Mumbai, India, to Indianapolis 12 years

ago, his top priority was to ensure a smooth transition for his wife and children.

Only then could he fully focus on his new assignment at Dow AgroSciences. 

“That’s a challenge all expatriates face,” says Gajaria,

now U.S. marketing director for the company. “We

want to become totally productive at work as fast as

we can, but first we must resolve issues at home such

as choosing schools, finding a pediatrician, getting 

involved with the local community….”
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THE INTERNATIONAL CENTER
Advancing Indiana’s globalpresence

And the list goes on and on.
Because Dow AgroSciences had estab-
lished a partnership with the International
Center, Gajaria’s wife learned about COPE
(Community Orientation Program for Expatriates).

The eight-session seminar did more than reduce the

stress of relocation and help the family bridge the

culture gap. “We got to know people who were in

similar situations,” recalls Gajaria. “That’s how we

made our first friends, and it’s also how we came to

know the International Center.”

Theexperiencewas sopositive that he later accepted

an invitation to join the center’s board of directors

and now serves as its chair. An enthusiastic advocate

The youth dance troupe Watoto De Afrika of the Watoto 

Memphis Performing Arts Academy got things off to a lively start 

at the International Center’s 26th International Citizen of the Year

dinner at the JW Marriott in Downtown Indianapolis.



The center contributed to the conference’s success,

and its value has only escalated since then. Cultural

diversity is on the upswing in Indiana – the interna-

tional population has almost doubled since 1990 – and

the state is working hard to attract global investment.

International traffic now moves briskly in two direc-

tions as more Hoosiers travel abroad to conduct

business and more global companies travel stateside

to scout locations. With ongoing support from Lilly

Endowment, the center acts as a catalyst for Indiana’s

international growth by offering programs that 

advance cultural understanding. Services include:

q Providing cultural education for Indiana pro-

fessionals headed to international assignments

u Offering relocation assistance to newcomers

adjusting to life in Indiana

y Training workforces to interact comfortably

with colleagues from other countries

t Hosting dignitaries on tours as guests of the

U.S. Department of State 

for his adopted hometown, Gajaria applauds the

manageable size of Indianapolis, the ease of getting

around the city and the variety of family-friendly

activities. “But what we really like are the people.

Hoosiers are so friendly and welcoming,” he says.

Rob Smith, president of the Eli Lilly and Com-

pany Foundation, shares Gajaria’s appreciation for

the center’s programs and services, which also help

Lilly’s international employees and their spouses

and families acclimate to living in Indianapolis. 

“I hear many favorable comments about the efforts

of the International Center from my colleagues from

around the world,” he says. “It is so important for

them and their families to start off on the right foot

when they move to Indianapolis. We know that our

employees are more productive when their spouses

and children are happy and prospering here. The

center is critical to our efforts to help them do so.”

Harnessing Hoosier hospitality
The city’s knack for reaching out to in-
ternational guests in an intentional way
dates back to 1972 when the White House
asked then-Mayor Richard Lugar to host a NATO

Conference of Mayors. The event’s planners needed

to recruit local interpreters, but they knew little

about the area’s immigrant populations or how to

tap into their expertise. “The NATO conference was a

moment of reckoning for the community. Everyone

wondered, ‘How are we going to pull this off?’ ‘What

resources are out there?’” explains Diane Thomas,

president and chief executive officer of the Interna-

tional Center, the organization that was formed to

answer the questions.
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Diane Thomas, president and CEO, sees that the International

Center provides services and programs dealing with everything

from protocol to naturalization – all to help citizens, communities,

organizations and companies make global connections with 

confidence.   



“Many international visitors don’t know very

much about Indiana, but we’re getting the word

out,” says Martin Baier, the center’s vice president for

programs and services. “In the future I see people

contacting the center whenever they require informa-

tion on an international level. We have the ability to

convene groups, connect them to the resources they

want and provide answers they need.”

Avoiding “oops” moments
When Indiana Lt. Gov. Becky Skillman
represented Indiana on a visit to China, the
center’s protocol officer, Peter Kirkwood,
created a detailed briefing book that covered every-

thing from the hierarchy of Asian officialdom to the

do’s and don’ts of formal gift exchanges. When Indi-

anapolis Mayor Greg Ballard hosted a dinner for an

Australian consul general, Kirkwood supervised the

seating chart, checked for dietary restrictions and

worked with the restaurant’s management to ensure

a distraction-free environment.
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“There’sadifferencebetweenprotocolandetiquette,”

explains Kirkwood. “Protocol involves universal

rules that don’t change, whereas etiquette is always

evolving.” When training an economic development

team for a trip abroad, he cautions that “we don’t

want a breach in protocol to be a deciding factor” in

a global company’s decision about where to expand

its operations. He also stresses the importance of

having the patience to form long-term friendships,

especially within the Asian culture. “If you aren’t

going to go to China every year for the next 10 years,

don’t bother going once,” he says. “That’s the kind of

commitment it takes to develop these relationships.”

Brian Sullivan, managing partner at Shiel Sexton

Co., a construction-management firm headquartered

in Indianapolis, has been pleased with the support his

colleagues have received from the center as they pre-

pare for their assignments relating to the firm’s building

of several facilities for Dow AgroSciences in Latin

America. “The International Center has helped im-

mensely in reducing any anxiety our employees had

about spending significant time on an international

assignment,” he says. “The center’s cultural-training

programs and efforts to connect our employees with

support networks in the countries in which they will

be working were extremely valuable.”

Practicing citizen diplomacy
One of the International Center’s most
successful programs enables area residents to
practice “citizen diplomacy” by interacting
with guests touring America as part of the Interna-

tional Visitor Leadership Program (IVLP) sponsored

by the Department of State. The center is one of 92

organizations across the country that compete for

the opportunity to host guests who often are their

countries’ emerging leaders.

Depending on the interests of the visitors, the 

center designs a possible agenda and submits it to

Washington where State Department officials select a

final itinerary. Typical features of any Indianapolis

stopover are meetings with local leaders who are

Maryam Durani (center) was one of 10 honored recently at the

International Women of Courage Awards by the U.S. Department of

State. A native of Kandahar Province in Afghanistan, Durani has been

elected twice to the Kandahar provincial council. Despite attacks on

her life, she plans to run for the council again. She is the director of

the Khadija Kubra Women’s Association for Culture. She also owns

and manages a female-focused radio station, so when International

Center staffers organized her Indianapolis itinerary, they included a

stop (above) at the offices of WFYI public broadcasting. 



Indianapolis, Minneapolis and Milwaukee so they

can have a Midwest experience,’” she says. 

That approach has changed as Indiana has built

a reputation for assets that set it apart from neighbor-

ing states. Thomas and her staff want people to come

to Indiana, not because of its geographic location,

but because of its distinctive resources at the IU School

of Medicine and the Center on Philanthropy and in

the media, sports, arts and culture, the justice system,

government and so forth. “It’s a matter of carving

out our niche and promoting our assets,” she adds.

Focusing on Asian cultures
One of these assets is the Asian Learning
Center of Indiana (ALCI), a new organization
in incubation at the International Center
to help Hoosiers understand Asian history, culture

and business opportunities. According to Destination

Indiana, a guidebook produced by the center, more

than 27 percent of the state’s international residents

are from Asia, with India and China topping the list.

Albert Chen proposed the idea for ALCI a few years

ago. Born in Taiwan, Chen started Telemon Corp. in

1985 in Indiana. The technology-services company has

become a global enterprise with more than 500 em-

ployees and annual revenues exceeding $500 million.

Because of his international business perspective

and his desire to help improve the quality of life 

in Indiana out of gratitude for all the state had given

him and his family, Chen believed that the creation

of ALCI was compelling. Discussions with the 

Endowment led to an Endowment-funded feasibility

study that confirmed the need and support for an

entity that would familiarize Indiana’s future work-

force with the language and traditions of Asia and

create partnerships with global companies. Now on

the board of the center, Chen says, “The center’s

leadership and support in ALCI’s early development

have been indispensable and helped increase the

community’s awareness of the importance of under-

standing Asian culture and history.”

professional counterparts of the guests and, after a

long day of touring, a relaxing dinner in the home of

a Hoosier host.

“These visits are a wonderful way for us to

showcase Indiana’s strengths,” says Thomas. “What’s

unique about our community is that we have access

to high-level people who are willing to help us.” For

example, when several Latin American journalists

visited, they engaged in lively dialogue with the edi-

tor of the state’s largest newspaper. When representa-

tives from the nonprofit sector in a developing

nation came to Indianapolis, they spent time at the

Center on Philanthropy at Indiana University and

“soaked up everything they could learn about the

role of philanthropy in a civil society.”

This year more than 240 guests from 71 countries

traveled to Indiana as part of IVLP, and Thomas

hopes to increase that number in 2012. “It used to 

be that the State Department would say, ‘Let’s take a

delegation to the Midwest and split the group between
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Jackie King, a nursing coordinator and International Center

volunteer, leads a session of COPE. The eight-session seminar famil-

iarizes newcomers with Indianapolis and reduces stress by lessening

concerns about relocation issues. Listening are (left to right) Lisbeth

Gonzalez (Spain), Winnie Ho (Canada) and Jesus Sarasa (Spain). 



Among ALCI’s first projects was to discover how

many Asian organizations exist in the state and to

open a conversation with them. “Within two weeks

we had identified more than 80 groups,” recalls

Weilin Long, vice president of strategic intiatives at

the center. “When we assessed their willingness to

collaborate with us, 98 percent responded ‘yes.’”

She envisions recruiting members of these

groups to serve as resources to schools interested in

creating or expanding Asian studies curricula. Eighteen

schools or school districts already participate in a

pilot program begun by ALCI and its partnering 

institutions. One such partner, Global Indiana, has
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sponsored trips for Indiana educators to visit Asia

and interact with their Asian peers. The teachers

often return to their classrooms with a stepped-up

determination to strengthen students’ understanding

of the global economy.

Welcoming and helping might describe the center’s personality,

as Thomas shows wondrous surprise at meeting little Pablo and his

mother, Begona Carnero, from Spain.

“China is such a force in the industrial world,

and the competition is only going to increase,” says

Dick Johnson, a Columbus, Ind., science teacher

who traveled with Long to Asia this year as part of a

Global Indiana delegation. Industry in Columbus

brings many Chinese and Japanese engineers and

their families to the community. “We’re leaping and

bounding into cultural change.”

Rather than limit Asian material to an occa-

sional unit in a history or geography class, Johnson

and his colleagues at Northside Middle School inte-

grate Asian material across the curriculum. As an 

example: “I show students the photos I took on my

trip and talk to them about modern China and

how the country has moved ahead so fast that the

environment is suffering because of it. That leads

to a discussion about what can be done to 

improve air and water quality,” Johnson says.

Growing global awareness
Johnson credits parents for support-
ing faculty efforts“to prepare their kids for
a world that has changed a great deal”
since the parents attended school. This same will-

ingness to adjust to global change has increased

the impact and growth of the International Center

since its founding in the wake of the 1972 NATO

Conference of Mayors.

Contributing factors in the success of past 

and present initiatives have been the increasing

ability of Hoosiers to understand and accept cultural

diversity and create an environment in which people of

diverse backgrounds feel comfortable and welcomed. 

“That’s what leads to business deals, educational

partnerships and cultural exchanges,” says Thomas. 

“That’s what will make a difference.” 



On Sept.15, Theodore (Tim) Solso, chairman and

CEO of Cummins, joined the ranks of 24 other luminaries

who have been awarded the International Citizen of

the Year award by the International Center. Established

in 1985, the award honors Indiana residents whose

work and lives reflect the center’s mission to strengthen

Indiana’s global presence, connections and influence.

The first award recipient, the late Riad Shaheen, 

a native of Lebanon, was the president of Long Electric

Co. and an early chairman of the center’s board of 

directors. The recipients have represented a variety of

walks of life, from Indiana Gov. Mitch Daniels to 

philanthropist and businesswoman Christel DeHaan

and from former Eli Lilly and Company Chairman and CEO Sidney Taurel to the preeminent cancer specialist 

Dr. Lawrence H. Einhorn.

Solso was honored for his leadership in Cummins’ efforts to inculcate outstanding corporate 

responsibility practices in Cummins’ extensive operations throughout the world. In accepting the award, 

he acknowledged how important it is for Cummins’ U.S. employees

and their families to be able to interact effectively and comfortably in 

international settings and for its international employees to become 

acclimated to living in Indiana. “The International Center’s programs 

to prepare Indiana professionals to thrive in international assignments

and to assist international employees and their families to feel at

home in Indiana are critical to businesses like Cummins. Our state is

fortunate to have such a fine resource,” he says.

Solsohonored

(top) Tim Solso, Cummins chairman and CEO, was named the center’s 26th International Citizen

of the Year. Among the first to congratulate him was Rajan Gajaria, Dow AgroSciences’ U.S. marketing 

director and board chairman of the center. Solso started at Cummins in 1971 as assistant to the vice president

of personnel; he has been chairman since 2000. Headquartered in Columbus, Ind., Cummins manufactures

electrical power generation systems, engines and related technologies. A multinational Fortune 500 com-

pany, it has more than 5,000 facilities in 197 countries and territories. (below) Solso greets Cummins 

employees Prasad Poludasu and his wife, Saroja Bharath.
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Too few third-graders who read at grade level. Too

many college graduates unprepared for the specific

demands of 21st century employers. Too little agree-

ment on what works in education, let alone how to

structure reform or how to pay for it.

Indiana, however, is different from other states

when it comes to finding consensus on education 

reform, in part because of an oasis called the Center

of Excellence in Leadership of Learning (CELL) at the

University of Indianapolis (UIndy).

CELL was created in 2001 with a $15 million

grant from Lilly Endowment. Subsequent Endow-

Under a big tent

Changing educationat theCELLular level
Education reform is a popular – and polarizing – topic. Across the nation,

everyone recognizes the problems. Low-performing schools. Too many 

students who fail to graduate from high school.  

ment grants totaling $9 million have helped sustain

its focus on results: making sure that children graduate

from high school ready for success in postsecondary

education or the workforce.

Tindley School student MiKalyn Robinson accompanies math

teacher Nicole Durham (right) in leading an exercise that is part of a

math problem-solving-through-writing session. The exercise is com-

pleted with a countdown session until all homework is in binders

and binders are closed.
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The center is not a think tank – although it

does sponsor and conduct education research – and

it doesn’t take on the politics of reform. CELL leader-

ship describes the center’s style as “cutting-edge and

action-oriented.” CELL has become the catalyst be-

hind new movements in Indiana that state officials,

business and community leaders, educators, parents

and students have embraced.

“We find ourselves in a position that I some-

times get teased about by leaders of more partisan

education groups,” confesses David Dresslar, CELL’s

executive director. “CELL is the big tent. We have 

excellent relationships with Democrats, Republicans,

charter schools and traditional schools.”

That “big tent” was on full display at the Indiana

Convention Center in November during CELL’s sev-

enth annual Indiana’s Future conference on education

reform. A hallmark event for CELL, the conference

welcomed more than 800 participants over two days

to discuss hot-button topics such as school choice

and teacher quality, as well as new CELL initiatives

and technology use.

During the keynote session, Indiana Superin-

tendent of Public Instruction Tony Bennett and

Nate Schnellenberger, executive director of the 

Indiana State Teachers Association, cordially

shared a stage and panel discussion with Cum-

mins executive Mark Gerstle and Wendy Robinson,

superintendent of Fort Wayne Community

Schools. The frank discussion was civil and never

heated, although panelists agreed to disagree with

each other on certain issues.

“It was important for us to get that conversa-

tion into the public arena, to make sure that every-

body got a chance to be heard,” Dresslar says.

“That panel represents everything we are trying to

achieve because nothing is going to happen unless

we get people talking to each other first.”

No one should underestimate the impor-

tance of the public conversations CELL initiates,

according to David Harris, founder and CEO of

The Mind Trust, an Indianapolis-based education

reform group. “As a sector, education does not do a

good job discussing key issues,” he says. “Divisions

become so deep, and the rhetoric can build up. It’s

hard to bring people together and push for change at

the same time. CELL is one of the few places nation-

ally that can do that, and they deserve a lot of credit.

It’s not easy.”

Rob Smith, Eli Lilly and Company Foundation

president, agrees. “The future of our community and

state is dependent on improving the educational

outcomes of our residents. Businesses must have 

access to an educated workforce, and their employees

must have attractive educational options for their

families,” he says. “We were pleased to be the title
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David Dresslar, CELL executive director, oversees a full plate of activ-

ities to encourage excellence in education. Schools and communities

in 89 Indiana counties participate in CELL-sponsored activities.
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sponsor for the conference because of CELL’s ability

to bring together education stakeholders from diverse

perspectives to discuss the major challenges and find

common ground.” 

Encouraging new models and
methods
Beyond conferences and conversations,
CELLhasbecomeavaluedallywithschoolsand
communities in89of Indiana’s92counties.
Over the past decade, CELL has developed consid-

erable expertise in two new educational approaches,

New Tech high schools and Early College models.

Employing a “strength in numbers” philosophy,

CELL is helping nearly 40 schools throughout the

state put one of these two models in place, making

Indiana a national laboratory for learning how to do

this well. It also has helped establish networks of

these schools throughout the state so they can learn

from each other’s experiences.

In 2011 CELL began working with six new Indiana

high schools to implement the New Tech model.

CELL serves as the Indiana intermediary for the Cali-

fornia-headquartered New Tech Network, a national

reform movement that focuses on project-based

learning and encourages the use of new technologies

in solving problems to teach 21st century workplace

skills. The addition of these six schools will bring 

Indiana’s total to 24 certified New Tech high schools

by 2012, far exceeding any other state in the nation.

CELL also is bringing other Project-Based-

Learning (PBL) methods to Indiana schools. PBL

methods combine student inquiry and teacher 

instruction to present students with authentic problems

or challenges that they likely will face in their 

workplaces. Classes emphasize critical thinking,

communication, collaboration and creativity. CELL

hosts an annual PBL Institute for more than 250 

educators to help them develop the skills for successful

implementation of the PBL method in their classrooms.

It also leads the Indiana Middle School and 

Elementary PBL networks.

CELL convened a November conference on education reform, 

a topic drawing immense interest from parents, students, teachers,

businesspeople, professors, government leaders – all in Indiana. 

The keynote session (above) featured (left to right) Tony Bennett,

Indiana state superintendent of instruction; Mark Gerstle, vice 

president of community relations at Cummins; Wendy Robinson, 

superintendent of Fort Wayne Community Schools, and Nate

Schnellenberger, executive director of the Indiana State Teachers

Association. The discussion was lively.



CELL connects expertise at the university level

and experience at the school level. “From the begin-

ning, we decided this would be a partnership and

not a case of higher education telling schools, ‘This

is what should be done,’” says Pitts, a former high

school English teacher. “Ten years later, CELL certainly

has brought distinction to UIndy. Because of the

Endowment’s support, I think we’re on the brink of

moving the entire state to significant education reform.”

The challenge
In Indiana – as in many other states –
alarm bells about the state of education 
have been ringing for a long time.
Only one-third of Indiana’s public school fourth-

grade students scored “at” or “above” proficiency on

the National Assessment of Educational Progress

(NAEP) reading exam, according to the Indiana 

Department of Education (IDOE). The department

also reported in 2011 that nearly half (49 percent) 

of all Indiana schools failed to meet Adequate

Yearly Progress, the measure by which schools, 

districts and states are held accountable for student

performance under Title I of the federal No Child

Left Behind Act.

While nearly 83 percent of Indiana’s students

aspire to attend a four-year, two-year or vocational

or technical school, only about half of them actually

go to college, and 40 percent of those who do never

complete a degree, according to a 2010 issue brief

by the Indiana Youth Institute. According to the 

Indiana Commission for Higher Education (ICHE),

25 percent of Indiana students need remediation

when they begin to attend a public, four-year

university. The rate for community college students

“These transformations are done with the the-

ory that if we can change some schools, others will

follow as the PBL schools grow and show success,”

Dresslar says. “If we can work with people who have

the vision, success will be contagious.”

Adding distinction
CELL’s impressive results with reform
models are in keeping with the intentions 
of the grant that helped launch it in 2001.
Beginning in 1999, the Endowment invited

selected Indiana colleges and universities to develop

bold new programs or projects that would achieve a

status of distinction or excellence for their institutions

and advance some strategic objective for Indiana.

UIndy proposed CELL as a way the university could

build on the strength of its School of Education and

its commitment of service to the community, says

Beverley Pitts, who will complete her tenure as 

president of UIndy in 2012.
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Misha Parks, a sixth-grader at Tindley School, gets some

pointers from Derrick Burnett, art teacher. Opened in 2004, Tindley

was the first school in Indiana to adopt the Early College model. 



is 67 percent. ICHE also reports that less than 10 per-

cent of Hoosier college students who have to take 

remedial courses graduate on time.

According to ICHE, nearly two-thirds of all 

new jobs require at least some postsecondary educa-

tion, and the U.S. Department of Labor indicates that

90 percent of the fastest-growing jobs by 2015 will 

Nakia Douglas, a graduate of a principal-preparation program

at UIndy, is the principal at “awesome” Tindley School.

require at least a two-year college degree. But the Lumina

Foundation reports that, according to 2008 Census

data, only 33 percent of Indiana’s nearly 3.4 million

working-age adults have at least a two-year college

degree. Unless significant progress is made in improving

these educational outcomes, Indiana’s future pros-

perity is in jeopardy.



earned enough college credits at Tindley to enter

college at the sophomore level. College credits are

provided at no extra cost to families.

“More than just saving money on college 

tuition, Early College exposes students to the high

expectations that they will find in college, equip-

ping them for success from day one once they get

to campus,” says Marcus Robinson, founder of

Tindley and CEO of EdPower, the charter school

operator launched in the wake of Tindley’s success.

“The best is when a student comes back and tells

us, ‘I was ready’ for the rigors of college.”

Tindley was created in 2004 through the 

efforts and financial support of local leaders with

ties to the business community and the Greater 

Indianapolis Chamber of Commerce. According to

Robinson, the support of these leaders has been critical

to the school’s success. “Because of their passionate

belief in the potential of our students and the trans-

formative role education can play in their lives, they

have been very generous in their gifts and service to

Tindley,” says Robinson. CELL also provided support

for Tindley through funding from the Bill & Melinda

Gates Foundation and additional assistance when

the school adopted the Early College model.

“CELL connected us to the national Early College

movement,” says Robinson. “Tindley was the first, 

so it has been great to be part of a growing network

of schools. Not every Early College high school has

adopted the same format, however. CELL hasn’t 

prescribed how to adopt a certain reform. They let 

us be who we need to be.”

At Tindley, the 500 blazer-clad students in

grades six through 12 move through an accelerated

curriculum, typically a grade or more higher than

their peers at other schools. Students and teachers

work hard; a “seventh period” from 3 to 5 p.m. 

provides extra instruction and gets students up to

speed. Classes are single-sex in grades six through 10.

But it’s not all grind. The emphasis on “whole-

brain learning” provides some of the “joy” factor in

learning, according to Nakia Douglas, principal at

“College or Die”
Teachers and students at the Charles A.
Tindley Accelerated School, a public charter
school in a high-poverty, high-crime urban
area in Indianapolis, are working to defy those odds.

The mantra at Tindley, “College or Die,” is embla-

zoned on a wall opposite an equally impressive wall

of college acceptance letters from Northwestern 

University, Kenyon College, Carnegie Mellon University

and Amherst College for last year’s graduating sen-

iors. Classrooms are named after Ivy League schools,

and college visits are as much a part of the curriculum

as language arts. 

At Tindley, college is not an abstract concept.

The school was the first of four in Indiana to adopt

the Early College model that CELL hopes to expand.

Eleventh- and 12th-grade students in Tindley’s Early

College Program can take college-level classes taught

by adjunct faculty from Anderson University. If students

receive a B or higher in the class, they are eligible to

receive college credit. Transferability of credits differs

among schools, but some Tindley graduates have
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Jahi Coffer goes over the to-take list as items pile up in the

hands of Cantron Quarles between classes at Tindley School, where

500 students aim for college. Tindley has benefited from CELL’s 

“big tent” approach to education reform.



Tindley. It’s not unusual to see a student singing –

literally – the blues in a math class, calling out the

formula for solving a problem with classmates clapping

along. “It’s awesome here for kids and students,”

Douglas says.

Preparing principals and 
STEM teachers
Douglas and, by extension, Tindley have
yet another CELL connection. Douglas is
one of more than 100 new school leaders who
have graduated from UIndy’s principal-preparation

program called Inspiring Leadership in Education

through Application and Dialogue (iLead). With as-

sistance from CELL, prospective principals committed

to serving in high-need schools are eligible for schol-

arships. iLead is just one way CELL has added more

new professionals to Indiana’s education pipeline.

In 2009 Indiana became the first state in the

nation to implement the Woodrow Wilson Teaching

Fellowship Program. With two grants totaling 

$15 million, the Endowment has been the principal

funder for this program, which prepares career

changers and top-ranked recent graduates to

teach science, technology, engineering and

mathematics (STEM) in high-need urban

and rural high schools. Through the program,

selected universities offer the fellows intense,

one-year programs leading to a master of arts

in teaching degree.

In part due to the presence of CELL,

UIndy was the only private school in the

state chosen to host the program, a collabo-

rative effort between its School of Education

and its College of Arts and Sciences with sup-

port from CELL. At UIndy, Woodrow Wilson

fellows are steeped in Early College and New

Tech models and PBL methods. Other institutions

offering Woodrow Wilson fellowships are Ball State

University, Indiana University-Purdue University 

Indianapolis (IUPUI) and Purdue University.
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Douglas makes a point in front of a wall covered with college 

acceptance letters. Schoolroom doors are marked with names of 

Ivy League colleges and universities; students may have a computer

class in “Yale.”

Promoting sustainable impact
Indiana was named “Education Reform Idol
2011” in a contest sponsored by the e-bulletin
Education Gadfly at the Thomas B. Fordham
Institute, thanks to new laws enacted by the Indiana leg-

islature and new regulations and policies of IDOE.

“It’s too early to tell to what extent the reforms that

helped Indiana win that title will result in higher achieve-

ment. While there is general agreement that educational

reform is needed, the devil is in the details. Some of the

recent reforms are controversial,” says Dresslar.

“The chances for positive, sustained impact increase

if as many stakeholders as possible align their efforts,”

he adds. “CELL hopes to encourage such alignment by

lifting up and helping to execute the best practices in 

education reform from around the country and by continu-

ing to encourage constructive conversations among 

interested parties with differing perspectives.” 



Today, visitors to the Columbus Signature Academy (CSA) can see how New Tech and CELL are

changing the educational experience.

Sitting in a commercial strip center, the school’s exterior looks just like any other store. 

But inside, it’s obviously not a store. Classrooms are large, open areas called “studio spaces” and

teachers are “facilitators” for classes that combine disciplines. “Global Science Perspectives,” for

example, gives students high school credit in English, world geography and science, while showing

them how the skills and knowledge in each discipline relate to each other.

In common areas, students work independently and quietly on laptops, some sitting in

small groups gathered at restaurant-style booths. By design, students work together, and CSA

students have won top honors nationally for classroom projects, including a World War II docu-

mentary project that played to sold-out audiences in Columbus in 2010.

NewTechinColumbus

Six years ago, Columbus, Ind., school district officials asked CELL to
help them establish a New Tech high school, a model that infuses a
project-based learning method with technology to develop commu-
nication, problem-solving and teamwork skills for 21st century jobs.
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Project-Based Learning is much more like the

real world, according to senior Ashley Taylor. “As

peers, we learn to trust each other and figure out a

way to work together,” she says. “Students have to be

responsible and learn to work with more freedom at

CSA. This is much more like college.”

She should know. Like her classmates, Taylor,

who already has taken courses at Ivy Tech Commu-

nity College in Columbus, is required to earn 12 hours

of college credit to graduate. Other projects have linked

Taylor and classmates with the Indiana University

chemistry department and IU’s nanotechnology lab.

Rachelle Antcliff, a member of the CSA design

team and faculty member, says, “At CSA you can do

all the things you always talked about at a traditional

school. There are fewer boundaries, fewer sacred

cows. At traditional schools, you always feel this 

inability to stop the freight train. Here, we can pretty

quickly shift directions if we need to.”

CELL as a catalyst
Without CELL, CSA would not exist, says
William Jensen, director of secondary educa-
tion for the Bartholomew Consolidated
School Corp. When district officials began inquiring

about the New Tech model, CELL connected

Columbus officials to other New Tech high schools,

worked as a go-between with IDOE and provided a

CELL “innovation grant” to help with the transition. 

“CELL helped us with the community conversa-

tions and helped us explain why we can’t keep

doing things the same way,” says Jensen, a 30-year

veteran of public schools. “CELL never dictated to

the school district what New Tech would look like

in Columbus, but it helped them come up with a

school that worked for their community.” 

Cummins vice president of community rela-

tions, Mark Gerstle, is enthusiastic about CSA and

appreciates the critical role CELL played in CSA’s 

development. “It is vital for Cummins to have access

to a local workforce educated in the STEM disciplines.

That’s why Cummins has supported the launching of

CSA in our community. We are proud to have the

only K-12 New Tech school in the country. The 

encouragement and support CELL provided for this 

important endeavor was essential. Their extensive

knowledge of national best practices and helpful 

resources saved us a lot of time and significantly 

enhanced the result,” says Gerstle.

Columbus has become a demonstration site 

for the New Tech high school model and has hosted

400 visitors from 17 states this year. “If we can 

improve teaching and learning in other schools and

other communities, we have affected a lot of kids,”

says Mike Reed, CSA principal.

(opposite) Hunter Pavy (left) and Zorina Rader begin to “see 

the light” in Algebra I at the Columbus (Ind.) Signature Academy,

the only K-12 New Tech school in the country. Collaboration, team-

work, interdisciplinary skills and problem-solving are keys to the

New Tech model. (below) Informal areas encourage groups to 

work and study together. 



He had graduated from seminary with a master of

divinity degree, $45,000 in education loans to repay,

and good intentions to eliminate the debt well

ahead of schedule. Then he did the math. “I thought

eventually I’d be able to make larger payments,” says

Bailey, age 30. But with the modest compensation he

received from his 100-member church, he realized

there was no way he could do that.

Reality set in. If he retired his loans according to

the terms of the agreement, “I’d be in my 50s and

would end up paying $90,000, or double what I

originally borrowed,” he explains. “I had never taken

the time to figure out that it would take that long or

the amount would be that large.”

Nor had he considered how an extended debt

could limit his future opportunities. “It makes it hard

for pastors who want to serve small congregations,”

he says. “You feel restricted to go where you can

make enough money to pay off your loans.” Pursu-

ing additional education also is out of the question,

as is making a major personal purchase. He recalls a

conversation with a congregant who works as a 

real-estate agent. When she learned of his 25-year 

financial obligation, she blurted, “My gosh, Ryan,

you’ll never be able to buy a house!”

While Bailey was feeling the stress of education

loans in his first pastoral call, a colleague several

years his senior was struggling mid-career with another

kind of debt. “I had medical bills that were straining

me to the point that I couldn’t think about much

else,” says Bern Kiser, 57, pastor of Bethel Baptist

Church in rural Leota, Ind.

Chronic illnesses, including heart disease and

diabetes, required Kiser to take 14 medications daily.

A lack of energy curtailed his physical exercise, which

led to weight gain, which exacerbated his problems.

He seemed unable to halt the downward spiral. The

church provided health insurance, but trips to the

emergency room and stays in the hospital resulted in

out-of-pocket expenses. “I never took time off from

ministry,” he says, “but I felt distracted. I was always

dragging and didn’t have a lot of hope for the future.”

26 Lilly Endowment Annual Report 2011

Confronting theelephant inthe room

Shortly after Ryan Bailey began his ministry at First Baptist
Church in Monticello, Ind., he faced a difficult reality. 

T H E  E C O N O M I C S  O F  M I N I S T R Y



Living on faith … and credit
ManyIndianapastors–indeed,clergyacross
the country – face economic challenges that
can adversely affect their personal well-being
and divert their attention from ministry. A 2005

study, funded by the Endowment and conducted at

the Auburn Center for the Study of Theological Edu-

cation, confirmed that a majority of seminarians now

rely on loans to help underwrite their graduate pro-

grams. As their numbers continue to increase, so does

the amount of money they’re borrowing. The study’s

findings served as a wake-up call to many denomina-

tions that were not aware of how much educational

debt their pastors carried or the influence it can have

on recruiting, training and sustaining clergy.

Even after seminary loans are retired, pastors

often have difficulty achieving economic stability.

Research has shown that clergy spouses frequently

work to provide the family with health insurance;

couples make do with one car when they need two;

they charge groceries to credit cards when cash runs

short; they can’t afford to send their children to college,

and they often extend their careers well past tradi-

tional retirement age.

“Most of our pastors have under-funded pen-

sions and live in church-owned parsonages,” explains

Mark Rennaker, senior minister at Southdowns 

Wesleyan Church in Kokomo, Ind., and a project 

director for the Endowment’s Initiative to Address

Economic Challenges Facing Indiana Pastors (ECFIP).

“When those factors come together, it’s like a perfect

storm. The pastors are nearing retirement, have no

equity in a house and have built up very little pen-

sion. In many cases they feel panicked and ask,

‘What are we supposed to do?’”

To help answer that question and ease the 

financial burdens on Indiana clergy, Lilly Endow-

ment created ECFIP in 2007 and awarded planning

grants to judicatories interested in exploring the

issue. These groups conducted surveys, interviewed

pastors and congregational leaders, and designed

programs to respond to the specific needs that their

research uncovered. The Endowment then awarded

grants totaling almost $12 million to 16 denomina-

tional bodies to conduct their programs. Each program

was unique to its judicatory but included plans to

achieve four important aims:

t To make congregations aware of the economic

pressures on pastors and the potential trickle-

down effects of those pressures

q To create a fund, launched with Endowment

seed money and supported by congregational

contributions, to address pastors’ pressing

needs 

y To provide educational opportunities for 

clergy families to strengthen their financial-

management skills

p To begin building financial resources to 

sustain the project after the four-year 

Endowment initiative ended

Beyond these requirements, the judicatories had

the freedom to “build the plane as we fly it,” as one

project director describes. The programs were break-

ing new ground, and flexibility was essential. “Not

only did we give project directors permission to modify

what they were doing, we encouraged them to add,

eliminate and tweak, according to what they were

learning,” says Adolf Hansen, vice president emeritus

and senior scholar at Garrett-Evangelical Theological

Seminary who serves as the initiative’s coordinator.

“The judicatories need to ask incisive questions and

then say, ‘What did we learn from that?’ and ‘What

shall we do with what we’ve learned?’”

Lifting the veil of secrecy
An early challenge of the initiative was
convincing pastors and congregations to put
aside their reluctance to confront “the elephant
in the room” and discuss finances. “We tend not to talk

about money in the church, especially personal finan-

cial information,” says William Gafkjen, bishop for the

Indiana-Kentucky synod of the Evangelical Lutheran

Church in America (ELCA) and project administrator

for the synod’s Endowment-funded program.
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To educate ELCA congregations about the financial

pressures that their ministers face, the synod created

a video that featured interviews with pastors who

had struggled with debt and had received relief from

the judicatory’s Freed to Lead fund, initiated as part

of its ECFIP program. Printed materials accompa-

nied the video and documented the average debt of

a seminary graduate. “Most congregations had no

clue about how much a seminary education costs

and how much debt their pastors pick up along the

way,” explains Gafkjen. “A big part of our program

was raising awareness.”

Congregations within the Missionary Church,

North Central District, were equally surprised to

learn of the financial difficulties of some elderly pas-

tors. “That was a shocker,” says John Moran, past

president of the denomination and now project di-

rector for his judicatory’s ECFIP program. “Back in the

1950s some of our pastors felt that to take Social Se-

curity was a sign of not trusting God. As a young boy

I remember church leaders trying to convince pastors

that they needed to get into Social Security for their

own safety. Some declined, and as a consequence

they were living beneath what is considered the

poverty level in the United States.” Moran’s judica-

tory agreed that its Ministerial Excellence Fund,

the cornerstone of its ECFIP program, would

reach out to retirees in these circumstances.

As the judicatories educated lay leaders

about pastors’ needs, their project directors 

appealed to congregations to build the funds

that would alleviate the needs. Each judicatory

developed its own guidelines as to who could

apply for assistance, the types of debt the fund

would address, and how much a pastor’s con-

gregation was expected to match. Some project

directors, such as John Moran, approached 

potential donors one-on-one with great success; 

others looked for opportunities to explain the 

program to entire congregations.

“I make myself very visible,” says Matt Hisrich,

who oversees the project for the Indiana Yearly Meet-

ing of the Religious Society of Friends. “I’m available

for pulpit supply when a pastor is gone, and my mes-

sage always relates to our initiative. I talk about what

we offer and what we’ve accomplished already.” An

interesting side benefit of Hisrich’s approach has

been a strengthening of the relationship between the

judicatory and the more than 60 congregations within

its region. Members are reminded that their judicatory

is more than a governing body; it is an advocate for

clergy and is working to support those persons called

to ministry.

Easing the burden of debt
Three years into the ECFIP initiative, the
accomplishments continue to mount. When
Ryan Bailey approached lay leaders in his
congregation and explained the opportunity to pay

down his $45,000 education debt, the response was

enthusiastic. Because Bailey’s judicatory – American

Baptist Churches of Indiana and Kentucky – requires 

a dollar-for-dollar match from a congregation, a handful

of lay leaders assumed the task of raising the neces-

sary funds. At the end of 2011, members had secured

enough pledges to erase half of Bailey’s debt and

were optimistic about eliminating the other half.
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A comment from a parishioner at Ryan Bailey’s small 

Baptist church in Monticello, Ind., drove home the prospect of an

“unpromising” financial future.



In Southern Indiana, the same Ministerial Excel-

lence Fund that assisted Bailey has paid Bern Kiser’s

medical bills and reduced the stress that the bills

were causing. “I feel so much better,” says Kiser. 

“I still have health problems, but I’ve lost weight, 

my blood pressure is normal, and I’m taking fewer

medications. This has freed me to do the things I

love doing, and I’m doing them better.”

Although judicatories are pleased with the results

of their debt-reduction efforts, they also recognize

the need to implement debt-prevention measures.

This involves creating opportunities for pastors,

clergy families and churches to upgrade their financial-

management skills. At least one project director was

surprised to discover that a few congregations within

his judicatory were operating without budgets or

balance sheets and saw no need for either. He re-

sponded with workshops

aimed at church treasur-

ers and a crash course 

in personal finance for

pastors. Another project

director recalls the fre-

quent questions he 

encountered when he

first met with lay leaders

to explain the ECFIP 

initiative: “Should we be

giving our pastor a W-2

form?” they asked. “How does that work?”

Several judicatories have added specific educa-

tion requirements as part of a pastor’s eligibility for

funds. As an example, to qualify for a grant from the

Central District of the Wesleyan Church, a pastor

and two lay leaders must attend a certain number of

rigorous educational events a year and respond to

questions that link financial stability to emotional,

physical and spiritual health. “We’re creating a holistic

model that is built on the idea of spiritual well-

being,” says project director Mark Rennaker. “All things

are interconnected; to have an impact on one aspect

is to have an impact on the others.”

The ELCA Freed to Lead program is looking be-

yond its immediate work of paying down education

loans and anticipating a time when seminarians will

graduate debt-free because of preventive measures

initiated before ECFIP. One such measure was to

build an endowment of almost $1 million to offer

scholarships and grants to students from the synod

who are preparing for professional ministry.

“We work with the seminaries to catch students

early who are starting to pick up unwieldy debt,” 

explains Gafkjen, who also sits on the board of Trinity

Lutheran Seminary in Columbus, Ohio. He sees his

synod’s endowment and its Freed to Lead program

working together toward the same goal. The endow-

ment helps students hold education debt in check

while they’re in school, and Freed to Lead helps 

pastors eliminate their debt after they graduate. 

“So, we’re addressing the issue at both ends.” 

Expandingtoasystemicapproach
Twoyears after theEndowmentannounced
its ECFIP initiative, it awarded a $1million
grant to support Stewards of Abundance,
a strategic effort by the ELCA denomination to stem

student indebtedness at its eight seminaries. Although

both the Indiana program and the national ELCA

program are rooted in the Auburn Center’s 2005 

report, they differ in scope and character. ECFIP brings

together judicatories from 16 denominations within

one state to alleviate education debt and a variety of

other money issues facing pastors. The ELCA project

is a comprehensive undertaking by one denomina-

tion to mount a systemic response to a single issue –

student loans – that has negative ramifications for

the entire denomination.
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Mark Rennaker, Wesleyan pastor in Kokomo, Ind., was a project 

leader in the Endowment’s statewide, judicatory-based initiative to

address economic issues facing pastors.



“The Auburn Center’s study was crucial,” explains

Jonathan Strandjord, director for seminaries for ELCA

and project director for Stewards of Abundance. When

the report was made public, ELCA officials asked their

seminaries to send to denominational headquarters

the same information that they had submitted to the

Auburn Center. They wanted to see how their schools’

statistics compared to the national trend. “The data

showed us that a growing percentage of our students

were taking on debt, and the levels of debt were get-

ting higher,” says Strandjord.

The denomination responded with a plan that

asked a range of stakeholders to study all factors that

contributed to the student-loan problem and create

strategies for solving the problem. The mounting

debt dilemma was “systemic,” according to Strand-

jord, and “wasn’t something that a few ‘naughty

schools’ had done.” A chain reaction had occurred.

Seminaries were receiving a declining level of sup-

port from the denomination; seminary fundraising

efforts failed to compensate for the decrease in 

denominational dollars; tuition rates escalated to 

fill the funding deficit; and students borrowed more

money to pay the increased rates.

The Endowment-supported project has two major

phases. In the first phase the stakeholders defined
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At a Sunday service, Bailey greets his parishioners in the

pews. Through the economic program developed by his Baptist 

judicatory, members secured enough pledges by the end of 2011 

to pay down half of his education debt.

the issue, identified the resources and opportunities

for dealing with it, and assigned persons to oversee

its specific aspects. The second phase, now under

way, involves mobilizing the church to work toward

solutions. Seminaries are trimming operating costs,

financial coaches are meeting with students, seminary

administrators are tracking students at risk of assum-

ing too much debt, and scholarship funds are growing.

A key to the success of the program is convincing all

constituents within ELCA that theological education

is a shared responsibility. Strandjord believes that even

if seminarians have the personal resources to pay for

their education by themselves, “I don’t think they

should,” he says. “This needs to be a partnership.”

As confirmation of this partner-

ship, he recalls an “epiphany mo-

ment” that came when ELCA’s Fund

for Leaders awarded its first round of

eight scholarships – one per semi-

nary – at a celebration attended by a

cross-section of denominational lead-

ers. In his acceptance speech, one of

the seminarians remarked, “Before I

received this scholarship I thought of

ministry as my call, but now I under-

stand that it’s the church’s call.”

Scholarship recipients have repeated

those sentiments in subsequent years,

and the words have taken on 

expanded meaning. “A church that

shares in a pastor’s call to ministry is likely to be a

church that shares in a pastor’s ministry,” says

Strandjord. “The sense of being connected to a body

and empowered by the body is strong.”
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EARLY FINDINGS FROM AN ENDOWMENT-FUNDED STUDY 
SUGGEST FINANCIAL PROBLEMS CAN ERODE A PASTOR’S SENSE OF 

WELL-BEING, AND GUILT OFTEN COMPOUNDS THE SITUATION. 

Studiesshednewlighton
clergycompensation

“I’m a servant of God, and so I should be satisfied

with whatever God gives me,” an Indiana pastor told

University of Notre Dame researcher Matt Bloom.

“Shouldn’t I be happy?”asked another pastor.“Shouldn’t

I be able to make do with whatever financial bless-

ings come my way?”

Bloom’s study is attempting to identify condi-

tions that enable clergy to flourish in ministry or

cause them to languish in their calling. Compensa-

tion, depending upon its adequacy, can do either. 

“We haven’t determined the degree to which

economic stability matters as compared with other

factors, but we know it’s very important,” says

Bloom, an associate professor of business. “We also

know that pastors seem to lack ways of dealing effec-

tively with financial challenges. It seems the nature

of their work makes it difficult for them to get the

help and support they need. They seem reluctant to

say to their congregations, ‘I’m underpaid,’ or ‘The

benefits I receive aren’t adequate’ or ‘You’ve required

me to get a seminary degree, but the amount you pay

me isn’t enough to retire my student-loan debt.’”

A second study, supported by the Endowment

and based at Duke University, is looking at clergy

compensation from a different perspective. Mark

Chaves is leading a team of researchers in discover-

ing the decision-making processes that congregations

use to determine pastoral salaries. Chaves, professor

of sociology, religion and divinity, is surveying clergy

and lay leaders who represent a range of faith com-

munities from 14 denominations. Unlike previous

research that focused on the amount of money that

pastors earn, this study will answer such questions

as: Does the pastor participate in the salary-setting

process or is that outside his or her purview? To

what extent do churches take into account what

neighboring congregations pay their clergy?

Views from pulpit and pew
“Because we’re interviewing lay leaders,
we’re able to ask about the values and 
assumptions that the leaders bring to the
process,” explains Chaves. “What expectations do

they have for their ministers? How much do they

think pastors should make? Do they feel that pastors

are overpaid or underpaid? Should a congregation

take into account a pastor’s life situation or just job

effectiveness?”

When completed, Chaves believes his study “will

fill in a couple pieces of the puzzle” that no previous

project has addressed. He’s particularly interested in

learning if a pastor and lay leaders from the same con-

gregation view their church’s salary-setting process in

similar ways.“Will we get the same picture or will the

pastor and lay leaders say very different things about

the process and the values driving the process?” asks

Chaves. “We don’t know that yet.”

Besides sharing their studies’ results with semi-

naries and denominational leaders, researchers intend

to reach out to persons in the pews. “I hope our

findings help congregations understand the financial

challenges that their pastors face and realize that the

challenges are real and not necessarily of the pastor’s

making,” says Bloom. “Just because individuals are

doing God’s work doesn’t mean they shouldn’t be

fairly compensated.”



grants paid in 2011, nearly three-fourths (69 percent) 

of grants approved went to Indiana organizations. 

Of the $208.7 million in grants approved, $98.2 million

(47 percent) was approved for non-Marion county

grantees in Indiana and $45.5 million (22 percent) to

Marion County (Indianapolis) grantees. Indiana organiza-

tions thus were awarded $143.7 million (69 percent)

of grants approved. $65 million (31 per-

cent) in grants was approved for non-

Indiana organizations.

Cumulative figures

The generosity of its founders in 

establishing the Endowment in 1937

has resulted over the years in the pay-

ment of $7.7 billion in grants to 8,627

charitable organizations, most of them in 

Indiana. Of that $7.7 billion, $3.2 billion supported 

education (41 percent), $2.6 billion supported community

development (34 percent), and $1.9 billion supported 

religion (25 percent). At the end of 2011 the Endowment’s

assets totaled $6.2 billion.

Board-approved grants are listed in the back of 

this report and are divided into community develop-

ment, education and youth, and religion

and philanthropy. Discretionary grants

of up to $7,500, authorized by the 

officers, are listed as a single line

item for each division.

The Endowment’s match for

the charitable contributions of staff,

retirees and Board members is reported

as a single line item before the total of

all grants approved. Grant Guidelines and

Procedures are outlined on pages 52-53.

During 2011 Lilly Endowment distributed grant 

payments of $206.4 million and approved $208.7 million

in new grants.

Grants paid
Chart 1

In 2011 the Endowment paid grants of $206.4 mil-

lion. In this category, education grants 

accounted for $74.9 million or 36 percent

of the total; community development

grants totaled $67.3 million or 33 per-

cent; religion grants added up to

$64.2 million or 31 percent.

As in previous years, most grants

were paid to organizations in Indiana –

a total of $141.2 million (68 percent). Of

the payment total of $206.4 million, $96 mil-

lion (46 percent) was paid to non-Marion County

grantees in Indiana and $45.2 million (22 percent) to

Marion County (Indianapolis) grantees. Organizations

outside Indiana received $65.2 million or 32 percent,

mostly from religion grants.

Grants approved
Chart 2

During 2011 the Endowment approved

$208.7 million to 757 grantees, 249 new

to the Endowment.

Education grants totaled the

most dollars at $77.2 million or 37

percent of the total. Approvals for

community development grants totaled

$67.4 or 32 percent, while approvals for

religion totaled $64.1 million or 31 percent.

Similar to the geographic distribution of the
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors
Lilly Endowment Inc.

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of Lilly Endowment Inc. (the 
Endowment) as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related statements of activities and changes in 
unrestricted net assets and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Endowment’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the
Endowment’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Endowment’s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Lilly Endowment Inc. as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

March 12, 2012
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Assets

Cash and equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      $ 11,564,601           $ 13,361,043

Dividend receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 66,478,694                     66,478,694

Other receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 36,616,322                     65,872,300

Investments — at fair value:

United States government and agency, bank, 
and corporate interest-bearing obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . .                101,465,103                      76,528,262

Eli Lilly and Company common stock 
(cost — $84,798,379 at December 31, 2011 
and 2010) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .            5,638,478,614                 4,753,904,972

Diversified equity investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .               370,827,472                    340, 719,931

Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      198,557                            217,787

   $ 6,225,629,363 $ 5,317,082,989

Liabilities

Amounts appropriated for future grants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       $ 8,691,831              $ 6,443,579

Deferred tax liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    102,933,600                      85,607,069

   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       111,625,431                      92,050,648

Unrestricted net assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .           6,114,003,932                 5,225,032,341

   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .         $ 6,225,629,363              $ 5,317,082,989

See accompanying notes.

Statements of Financial Position

As of December 31 2011 2 010
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Income:

Dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 274,274,499         $ 272,786,264

Interest. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 236,771 190,048

Total income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 274,511,270                272,976,312

Deductions:

Grants approved . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 215,120,639 205,546,854

Expenses:

   Program support . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,732,770                   6,750,829

   Operational support . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,697,142                   5,700,713

   Federal excise tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,800,301 47,679,233

Total grants approved and expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 250,350,852                265,677,629

Increase (decrease) in unrealized appreciation  
of marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 866,232,666    (52,822,664)

Other (deductions) income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .            (1,421,493)             2,579,476

Increase (decrease) in unrestricted net assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 888,971,591    (42,944,505)

Unrestricted net assets:

Balance at beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,225,032,341 5,267,976,846

Increase (decrease) in unrestricted net assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . 888,971,591             (42,944,505)

Balance at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,114,003,932         $ 5,225,032,341

See accompanying notes.

Year ended December 31 2011 2 010

Statements of Activities and Changes in Unrestricted Net Assets
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Operating activities

Increase (decrease) in unrestricted net assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 888,971,591              $ (42,944,505)

Adjustments to reconcile change in unrestricted net
assets to net cash provided by operating activities:

Investment expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 250,244 230,626

(Gain) loss on mark-to-market adjustments 
on investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (866,232,666)              52,763,377

Changes in assets and liabilities: 

Dividend and other receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29,255,978                    38,286,749

Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,230                     1,128,552

Amount appropriated for future grants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,248,252                   (3,736,521)

Deferred federal excise tax liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,326,531 42,235,580

Net cash provided by operating activites . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 71,839,160 87,963,858

Investing activities

Purchases of investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (73,385,358)                 (83,399,750)

Investment expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (250,244) (230,626)

Net cash used for investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (73,635,602)                 (83,630,376)

Net (decrease) increase in cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,796,442)                   4,333,482

Cash and equivalents at beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,361,043 9,027,561

Cash and equivalents at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 11,564,601 $ 13,361,043

See accompanying notes.

Statements of Cash Flows
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Notes to Financial Statements

Income Recognition
Income is recognized when amounts are realizable and earned.

2. New Accounting Pronouncements
In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No.

2010-06, Improving Disclsoures about Fair Value Measurements, ASU

2010-06. ASU 2010-06 amends ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measure-

ments and Disclosures, to require a number of additional disclosures re-

garding fair value measurements. Effective January 1, 2011, ASU 2010-06

requires that information in the reconciliation of recurring Level 3 meas-

urements about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements be provided

on a gross basis. The adoption of ASU 2010-06 only required additional

disclosures and did not have an impact on the Endowment’s statements

of financial position or statements of activities and changes in unre-

stricted net assets.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-04, Fair Value Meas-

urement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value

Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs, or

ASU 2011-04. ASU 2011-04 amends ASC Topic 820, to provide guid-

ance on how fair value measurement should be applied where existing

GAAP already requires or permits fair value measurements. In addition,

ASU 2011-04 requires expanded disclosures regarding fair value meas-

urements. ASU 2011-04 became effective for the Endowment on 

January 1, 2012. Early adoption was not permitted. The adoption of

ASU 2011-04 is not expected to have a material impact on the Endow-

ment’s statements of financial position or statements of activities and

changes in unrestricted net assets.

3. Required Distributions
The IRC provides that the Endowment generally must distribute for

charitable purposes 5% of the average market value of its assets. The

Endowment must make additional qualifying distributions of approxi-

mately $238,000,000, before January 1, 2013, to meet the 2011 min-

imum distribution requirements.

4. Other Receivables
Other receivables represent the fair value of future cash flows to be 

received from the Endowment’s split-interest agreements. Amounts

recorded are subject to subsequent changes in fair value, which would

be recorded in the statements of activities and changes in unrestricted

net assets.

1. Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Organization
Lilly Endowment Inc. (the Endowment) is an Indianapolis-based, private

philanthropic foundation created by three members of the Lilly family

through gifts of stock in their pharmaceutical business, Eli Lilly and Com-

pany. The stock of Eli Lilly and Company continues to be the Endow-

ment’s most significant asset. The Endowment supports the causes of

religion, education, and community development. The Internal Revenue

Service has determined that the Endowment is exempt from federal in-

come tax under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). 

It remains a private foundation subject to federal excise tax on net 

investment income.

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accor-

dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

(GAAP). Preparation of the financial statements requires management

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts

of assets, liabilities, income, expense, and related disclosures at the date

of the financial statements and during the reporting period. Actual re-

sults could differ from those estimates. Subsequent events have been

evaluated through March 12, 2012, the date these financial statements

were issued.

Cash and Equivalents
Investments with original maturities of three months or less at the time

of purchase are considered to be cash equivalents.

Investments
Investments are stated at fair value in accordance with the Financial Ac-

counting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification

(ASC) Topic 958, Not for Profit Entities. Investments are comprised of

equity and fixed income securities, which are recorded at market-quoted

fair values. Changes in fair value are recorded in the statements of ac-

tivities and changes in unrestricted net assets. There are no restrictions

on investments.

Realized gains and losses from the sales of Eli Lilly and Company

common stock are calculated using the first-in, first-out method of allo-

cating cost.

Facilities and Equipment

Expenditures for facilities and equipment are expensed as paid. The

amounts expensed during 2011 and 2010 are not material to the finan-

cial statements.

Grants
The Endowment primarily makes grants to organizations that qualify as

public charities under the IRC.  When distributions are made to organi-

zations other than public charities, the Endowment assumes expenditure

responsibility as required under applicable federal law.  All grants are

approved by the Board of Directors and are accrued when approved.

December 31, 2011
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5. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Endowment determines fair values based on the framework for measuring fair value under ASC 820.  The following table summarizes fair

value information at December 31, 2011 and 2010.

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for
Identical Assets Observable Inputs Fair Value 

Description Cost (Level 1) (Level 2) (Carrying Value)

December 31, 2011

Cash equivalents $        8,997,970 $ 8,997,260 $ –  $ 8,997,260

Fixed income securities 101,617,540 11,249,091 90,216,012  101,465,103

Marketable securities 506,532,503 6,009,306,086 – 6,009,306,086

617,148,013 6,029,552,437 90,216,012 6,119,768,449

Other receivables – 5,940,659 30,675,663 36,616,322

$ 617,148,013 $ 6,035,493,096 $    120,891,675 $ 6,156,384,771

December 31, 2010

Cash equivalents $ 11,996,789 $    11,998,976 $                         –  $ 11,998,976

Fixed income securities 76,589,763 76,528,262 –  76,528,262

Marketable securities 458,177,820 5,094,624,903 – 5,094,624,903

546,764,372 5,183,152,141 – 5,183,152,141

Other receivables – 27,951,557 37,920,743 65,872,300

$    546,764,372 $ 5,211,103,698 $      37,920,743 $ 5,249,024,441

Transfers between levels, if any, are recorded at the beginning of the reporting period. There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2, and 3 during

the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.

The fair value for marketable securities is determined using quoted market values. Fair values of fixed income securities are based on quoted

market prices, where available. These fair values are obtained primarily from third-party pricing services. United States government securities rep-

resent Level 1 securities, while Level 2 securities primarily include corporate securities. For fixed income securities that are not based on quoted

market values, the value is determined by pricing models, quoted prices of securities with similar characteristics, or discounted cash flows. The fair

value of other receivables is based on observable inputs using quoted market values and a combination of a market and income approach determined

based on future cash flows.  Inputs in this valuation methodology include the initial value of the split-interest agreement, the Endowment’s interest

percentage in the split-interest agreement, annuity percentage per the split-interest agreement, estimated rate of return, and discount rate.

6. Federal Excise Taxes
The Endowment is subject to federal excise taxes imposed on private

foundations at 2%, or at 1% if certain conditions are met. The excise

tax is imposed on net investment income, as defined under federal law,

which includes interest, dividends, and net realized gains on the sale of

investments.  The Endowment qualified for a 2% excise tax rate for the

years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. Federal excise tax paid on

realized amounts was $5,473,770 and $5,443,653 for the years ended

December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The Endowment recorded an additional liability of $17,326,531

and $42,235,580 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010,

respectively, for deferred federal excise tax related to unrealized gains

on investments.

The Endowment is subject to routine audits by taxing jurisdic-

tions. The 2008 through current tax returns are open under the statute

of limitations.

If incurred, any interest and penalties would be recorded as a

component of excise tax. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, total in-

terest and penalties recognized was $0.



Pencil in hand and eyes on the teacher, a student is ready to learn at Tindley

School in Indianapolis. The school’s vision is to ensure that all its students are accepted to

a fully-accredited, four-year college or university. So far, that vision is 20/20.
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American Cabaret Theatre
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     100,000

American Enterprise Institute 
for Public Policy Research
Washington, DC

General operating support                                                     100,000

American National Red Cross
Washington, DC

Disaster relief                                                                      1,000,000

Disaster relief                                                                       2,000,000

American Pianists Association
Indianapolis, IN

2012-13 Classical Fellowships and 2014-15 
Jazz Fellowships                                                                     275,000

Public relations for classical competition                                   25,000

Arts Council of Indianapolis
Indianapolis, IN

Art & Soul at the Artsgarden                                                    52,000

Art exhibit at Old City Hall                                                        25,000

General operating support                                                     300,000

Athenaeum Foundation
Indianapolis, IN

Capital needs                                                                           50,000

Atlas Economic Research Foundation
Washington, DC

Economic and public-policy education programs
in Latin America                                                                     500,000

Benjamin Harrison Presidential Site
Indianapolis, IN

Website upgrade                                                                      25,000

Blackford County Community Foundation
Hartford City, IN

Indiana Community Foundation Program for 
Resource Development                                                           250,000

CANDLES Holocaust Museum 
and Education Center
Terre Haute, IN

Strategic planning and fundraising capacity building                50,000

Cathedral Arts
Indianapolis, IN

Ninth Quadrennial International Violin Competition               900,000

Central Indiana Corporate 
Partnership Foundation 
(CICP Foundation)
Indianapolis, IN

BioCrossroads’ charitable, educational and 
scientific programs                                                              2,800,000

Organizational activities to create Indy Hub Foundation            50,000

Research relating to Indiana employment issues                     350,000

Children’s Museum of Indianapolis
Indianapolis, IN

School field trips for National Geographic Treasures 
of the Earth                                                                              50,000

Christian Community Development 
Association
Chicago, IL

Support for 2011 national conference in Indianapolis               50,000

Coalition for Homeless Intervention 
and Prevention
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     260,000

Community Foundation of the Ozarks
Springfield, MO

Disaster recovery from May 2011 tornado                           1,500,000

Community Organizations 
Legal Assistance Project
Indianapolis, IN

General support                                                                       35,000

Conner Prairie Museum
Fishers, IN

Organizational and financial consulting and 
capacity building                                                                    200,000

Dance Kaleidoscope
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     100,000

Domestic Violence Network 
of Greater Indianapolis
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     225,000

Economic Club of Indiana
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                       10,000
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Community
Development
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Eiteljorg Museum of American 
Indians and Western Art
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                  1,147,500

Federalist Society for Law and 
Public Policy Studies
Washington, DC

General operating support                                                     150,000

Foundation for Research on 
Economics and the Environment
Bozeman, MT

General operating support                                                       50,000

Fraser Institute
Vancouver, BC

2011 general operating support                                             300,000

2012 general operating support                                             300,000

Freedom House
Washington, DC

General operating support                                                     100,000

George Mason University Foundation
Fairfax, VA

Law & Economics Center, Judicial Education Program             100,000

Gleaners Food Bank of Indiana
Indianapolis, IN

BackSacks–Weekend Food for Kids program                       1,500,000

Heartland Truly Moving Pictures
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     300,000

Huntingburg Foundation
Huntingburg, IN

Indiana Community Foundation Program for 
Resource Development                                                           112,966

Indiana Association for Community 
Economic Development
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     175,000

Indiana Association of United Ways
Indianapolis, IN

Program and operating support                                           6,500,000

Indiana Grantmakers Alliance
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     272,500

Indiana Grantmakers 
Alliance Foundation
Indianapolis, IN

GIFT technical assistance for 2012                                          690,000

Indiana Historical Society
Indianapolis, IN

Annual meeting of the Association of Midwest Museums        32,000

Indiana Humanities
Indianapolis, IN

General support                                                                     100,000

Planning and research for Humanities at the 
Crossroads conference                                                             50,000

Indiana Landmarks
Indianapolis, IN

2013 National Trust for Historic Preservation 
conference in Indianapolis                                                      150,000

Indiana Opera Society
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     123,750

Indiana Public Broadcasting Stations
Fort Wayne, IN

Consultant fees for technical grant application                         14,000

Indiana Repertory Theatre
Indianapolis, IN

Database and ticketing software project                                 175,000

General operating support                                                     300,000

Indiana Special Olympics
Indianapolis, IN

Law Enforcement Torch Run development initiative                  50,000

Indiana Sports Corp.
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     500,000

Indiana Symphony Society
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                  1,237,500

Indiana University Foundation
Bloomington, IN

Terminal general operating support for the Center for 
Urban Policy and the Environment and its work with 
the Indiana University Public Policy Institute                         6,600,000

Indianapolis Art Center
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     200,000
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Indianapolis Children’s Choir
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     150,000

Indianapolis Jazz Foundation
Indianapolis, IN

Indy Jazz Fest                                                                           45,000

Indianapolis Museum of Art
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     500,000

Indianapolis Neighborhood 
Housing Partnership
Indianapolis, IN

General support                                                                  5,300,000

Indianapolis Neighborhood 
Resource Center
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     250,000

Neighborhoods, USA (NUSA), national 
conference in Indianapolis in 2012                                           20,000

Neighborhood Power program                                                 10,000

Indianapolis Zoological Society
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                  1,116,720

International Great Ape Center, Phase I                               5,000,000

Institute for Research on the 
Economics of Taxation
Washington, DC

General operating support                                                       85,000

Intercollegiate Studies Institute
Wilmington, DE

General operating support                                                     125,000

International Center of Indianapolis
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     500,000

Keep Indianapolis Beautiful
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     325,000

Kurt Vonnegut Memorial Library
Indianapolis, IN

Continued organizational and programmatic support               50,000

Local Initiatives Support Corp.
New York, NY

Indianapolis LISC program                                                      500,000

LISC office relocation                                                                50,000

Madame Walker Urban Life Center
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     500,000

Support for lecture series                                                          40,000

Manhattan Institute for 
Policy Research
New York, NY

General operating support                                                     200,000

National Center for Policy Analysis
Dallas, TX

General operating support                                                     150,000

New Harmony Project
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                       50,000

NPower Indiana
Indianapolis, IN

Plan and develop the Indiana Nonprofit Shared 
Technology Center                                                                   50,000

Property and Environment 
Research Center
Bozeman, MT

General operating support                                                       50,000

Sagamore Institute for 
Policy Research
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     300,000

Salvation Army
Alexandria, VA

Disaster relief                                                                       1,000,000

Disaster relief                                                                          500,000

Social Philosophy and 
Policy Foundation
Bowling Green, OH

General operating support                                                     100,000

Tax Foundation
Washington, DC

General operating support                                                       75,000

United Way of Central Alabama
Birmingham, AL

Disaster recovery from April 2011 storms                            1,500,000
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United Way of Central Indiana
Indianapolis, IN

2011 campaign                                                                   3,750,000

Capital fund replenishment                                                 7,500,000

Continuation of the Social Assets and Vulnerabilities 
Indicators (SAVI) community information system                    200,000

Continued support for the Facilities Maintenance Fund          700,000

Homelessness Targeted Initiatives Fund                                   853,000

Supplemental support for the Community Economic 
Relief Fund                                                                          2,000,000

Targeted Initiatives Fund                                                         550,000

University of Southern Indiana
Evansville, IN

General operating support for the Historic 
New Harmony project                                                             125,000

Young Audiences of Indiana
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     200,000

Holiday Assistance Fund

(24 grants ranging from $1,000 to $120,350)                        400,000

Blessed House of Prayer                                                                       

Catholic Charities Indianapolis                                                             

Community Action of Greater Indianapolis                                          

Flanner House                                                                                     
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Indiana State University
Terre Haute, IN

Extending Teacher Creativity 2012: A Summer Workshop 
for Teacher Creativity Fellows                                                 109,275

Indiana Student Financial 
Aid Association
Bloomington, IN

College Goal Sunday 2012                                                       50,000

Indiana University Foundation
Bloomington, IN

Indiana University Kenya Project Campaign                         2,500,000

Kelley School of Business building project                          33,000,000

Education
andYouth

Dollar amount approved in 2011

Hall Temple Church of God in Christ                                                    

Healing Place                                                                                       

Indiana Black Expo                                                                              

Indiana FOP Foundation                                                                      

Indianapolis Jaycee Charities                                                                

Indianapolis Public Housing Agency                                                     

Indianapolis Urban League                                                                  

Jerusalem Christian Center                                                                  

Kingsley Terrace Church of Christ                                                        

La Plaza                                                                                               

Latino Community Development Corp.                                                

Latter House Foundation                                                                     

Lutheran Child & Family Services of Indiana                                         

Miracle Place                                                                                       

New Covenant Church & Ministries                                                     

Project Concern Indianapolis                                                               

Rev. Richard Hunter Ministries                                                             

Salvation Army                                                                                    

United Way of Central Indiana                                                             

Westminster Neighborhood Ministries                                                 

Subtotal
Community Development Grants                                      67,331,936

Subtotal
Community Development Discretionary Grants                         90,400

Total
Community Development Grants                                      67,422,336

Central Indiana Corporate Partnership 
Foundation (CICP Foundation)
Indianapolis, IN

I-STEM Resource Network                                                   1,600,000

Independent Colleges of Indiana
Indianapolis, IN

Administration of the Lilly Endowment Community 
Scholarship Program                                                            1,199,301

Lilly Endowment Community Scholarship Program 
for 2012                                                                            14,707,081

Indiana Association of Public 
Education Foundations
Indianapolis, IN

Fundraising training for Indiana K-12 education foundations    50,000



Center for Leadership Development
Indianapolis, IN

Operating support                                                                  275,000

Pilot program for the CLD College Prep Institute                     500,000

Child Advocates
Indianapolis, IN

Cultural diversity workshops                                                     50,000

Fathers and Families 
Resource/Research Center
Indianapolis, IN

Operating support                                                                  250,000

Girl Scouts of Central Indiana
Indianapolis, IN

Outreach program for girls in low-income communities          954,166

Girls Inc.
New York, NY

Strategic planning                                                                    50,000

IARCCA Institute for Excellence
Indianapolis, IN

Organizational capacity-building project                                 291,441

Indiana Black Expo
Indianapolis, IN

Youth and education programs                                              600,000

Indiana Grantmakers 
Alliance Foundation
Indianapolis, IN

Youth Philanthropy Initiative of Indiana                                   175,000

Indiana Youth Institute
Indianapolis, IN

Operating support                                                               2,375,000

Indianapolis Art Center
Indianapolis, IN

Beyond Perceptions and SMART 
(Supportive Mentoring through ART)                                        35,000

Indianapolis Private Industry Council
Indianapolis, IN

Continuing support for Youth Employment 
Services (YES) programs                                                       1,155,000

Indianapolis Urban League
Indianapolis, IN

Organizational capacity building                                               50,000

Jameson Camp
Indianapolis, IN

Organizational capacity building and youth-leadership 
program development                                                            216,250
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Rose-Hulman Institute of Technology
Terre Haute, IN

Continuation of the Homework Hotline                               1,849,781

The Mind Trust
Indianapolis, IN

Continued support for Teach for America (Indianapolis) 
and other teacher- and principal-quality initiatives               3,500,000

United Negro College Fund
Fairfax, VA

Support for the UNCF Indiana Campaign                                  85,000

UNCF/Ivy Tech Minority Education 
Bridge Program planning                                                          45,000

Woodrow Wilson National 
Fellowship Foundation
Princeton, NJ

Continuation of the Indiana Teacher Fellowship Program     4,896,000

Teacher Creativity Fellowship Program

Competitive summer program for renewal of Indiana 
schoolteachers, principals and assistant principals, 
guidance counselors and library media specialists

(120 grants at $8,000 each)                                                   960,000

YOUTH 

Asante Children’s Theatre
Indianapolis, IN

Partnership development, marketing and 
program operations                                                                  50,000

At-Your-School (AYS) Child Services
Indianapolis, IN

Continued support for the Youth Professionals 
Fellowship Programs                                                               540,000

Indiana YouthPro Transition                                                      29,997

Boys & Girls Clubs of America
Atlanta, GA

Continued support for capacity building in 
Indiana Boys & Girls Clubs                                                      700,000

Boys & Girls Clubs of Indianapolis
Indianapolis, IN

Goals for Graduation program                                               152,394

Brooke’s Place for Grieving 
Young People
Indianapolis, IN

Capacity building                                                                     50,000



Kids Voice of Indiana
Indianapolis, IN

Continued support for the Children’s Law Center                   517,500

Marion County Commission on Youth
Indianapolis, IN

Operating support                                                                  210,000

National FFA Foundation
Indianapolis, IN

2011 National FFA Conference                                               250,000

National Junior Tennis League 
of Indianapolis
Indianapolis, IN

Marketing and resource development project                           50,000

National Urban Fellows
New York, NY

Support for fellowships in Indianapolis, recruitment, 
marketing, alumni giving and new leadership initiative           132,500

Planned Parenthood of Indiana
Indianapolis, IN

Peer Education Program                                                           50,000

Reach for Youth
Indianapolis, IN

Teen Court                                                                             359,377

Ronald McDonald House
Indianapolis, IN

Partial support for the volunteer program                                 38,000

Ruth Lilly Center for 
Health Education
Indianapolis, IN

Transitional funding for STOP: Preventing 
Teen Violence in IPS                                                                  50,000

Villages of Indiana
Bloomington, IN

Program and technology enhancements                                 333,210

Y-Press
Indianapolis, IN

Resource development and partial operating support               50,000

Summer Youth Program Fund

Grants for organizations to provide summer activities 
for youth

(161 competitive grants to support 185 programs 
ranging from $2,500 to $145,363)                                      1,540,963

African Community International                                                         

American Diabetes Association, Indiana Affiliate                                  

Antioch Neighborhood Restoration & Outreach 
Ministry (ANROM)                                                                               

Art With a Heart                                                                                  

Asante Children’s Theatre                                                                    

At-Your-School (AYS) Child Services                                                     

Bethesda Temple Apostolic Church                                                      

Big Brothers Big Sisters of Central Indiana                                           

Booth Tarkington Civic Theatre                                                            

Bosma Industries for the Blind                                                             

Boys & Girls Clubs of Indianapolis (4)                                                   

Brebeuf Preparatory School                                                                 

Brightwood Community Center                                                           

Broadway United Methodist Church                                                    

Butler University                                                                                  

Calvary Temple of Indianapolis                                                             

Camptown                                                                                          

Catholic Charities Indianapolis (2)                                                        

Catholic Youth Organization                                                                

Charity Church Ministry                                                                       

Children’s Bureau                                                                                

Children’s Museum of Indianapolis                                                      

Christamore House                                                                              

Christel House Academy                                                                      

Circle City Frontiers Club                                                                     

Claude McNeal’s Musical Theatre Training Program                             

Coburn Place Safe Haven                                                                    

Community Alliance of the Far Eastside (CAFE)                                    

Community Health Network Foundation                                             

Concord Center Association                                                                

Cornerstone of Hope Church                                                              

Cosmo Knights Scholarship Fund                                                         

Damar Services                                                                                    

Dance Kaleidoscope                                                                            

Day Nursery Association of Indianapolis                                               

Dayspring Center                                                                                

Diabetic Youth Foundation of Indiana                                                  

DREAM Alive                                                                                       

Dyslexia Institute of Indiana                                                                 

East Tenth United Methodist Children and Youth Center                     

Ebenezer Missionary Baptist Church                                                    

Edna Martin Christian Center                                                              

Englishton Park Presbyterian Ministries                                                

Fay Biccard Glick Neighborhood Center at Crooked Creek                   

Felege Hiywot Center                                                                         

First-Meridian Heights Presbyterian Church (2)                                     

First Samuel Missionary Baptist Church                                                

Flanner House                                                                                     

Fletcher Place Community Center                                                        

Footlite Musicals                                                                                  
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Forest Manor Multi-Service Center                                                      

Freetown Village                                                                                 

Friendship Westside Center for Excellence                                           

Girl Scouts of Central Indiana                                                              

Girls Inc.                                                                                              

Good News Mission                                                                            

Great Commission Church of God                                                       

Happy Hollow Children’s Camp                                                           

Harrison Center for the Arts                                                                

Hawthorne Social Service Association                                                  

Hear Indiana                                                                                        

Hemophilia of Indiana                                                                         

Hendricks Regional Health Foundation                                                

Horizons Urban Student Enrichment Program                                      

Indiana Annual Conference of the United Methodist Church               

Indiana Deaf Camps Foundation                                                          

Indiana Golf Foundation                                                                      

Indiana Interfaith Hospitality Network                                                  

Indiana Juvenile Justice Task Force                                                       

Indiana School for the Deaf                                                                 

Indiana Sports Corp.                                                                            

Indiana State Museum Foundation                                                      

Indiana University Foundation                                                              

Indianapolis Algebra Project                                                                 

Indianapolis Art Center                                                                        

Indianapolis Junior Golf Foundation                                                     

Indianapolis-Marion County Public Library Foundation                         

Indianapolis Parks Foundation (5)                                                        

Indianapolis Public Housing Agency                                                     

James Whitcomb Riley Memorial Association 
(dba Riley Children’s Foundation)                                                        

Jameson Camp                                                                                    

Jerusalem Christian Center                                                                  

John H. Boner Community Center                                                       

Julian Center                                                                                       

Just The Beginning Foundation                                                            

Kaleidoscope Church and Community Partnership                               

Keep Indianapolis Beautiful                                                                 

La Plaza (2)                                                                                          

Latter House Foundation                                                                     

Lawrence United Methodist Church                                                    

LifeBridge Community                                                                         

Life Line Community Center                                                                

Lillian Davis Foundation                                                                       

Little Bethel Missionary Baptist Church                                                

Little Red Door Cancer Agency                                                            

Lutheran Child & Family Services of Indiana                                         

Madame Walker Urban Life Center                                                      

Marian University                                                                                

Marion County Commission on Youth (2)                                            

Martin Luther King Multi Service Center                                              

Mary Rigg Neighborhood Center                                                         

Metro Ministries                                                                                  

Metropolitan School District of Pike Township                                     

Metropolitan School District of Washington Township                         

Mission Indy                                                                                        

Montessori Educational Charity                                                           

Mount Carmel Community Center                                                      

Mount Moriah Missionary Baptist Church                                            

Muscular Dystrophy Association                                                          

Music for All                                                                                        

National Junior Tennis League of Indianapolis                                      

National Society of Hispanic MBAs Foundation                                    

New Covenant Church & Ministries                                                     

New Light Christian Church                                                                 

Noble of Indiana                                                                                  

Northside New Era Community Outreach                                            

Nu Corinthian Baptist Church                                                              

Oasis Christian Community Development Corp.                                  

100 Black Men of Indianapolis                                                             

PASSWORD Community Mentoring                                                     

Pathway Resource Center                                                                    

Peace Learning Center                                                                         

People’s Burn Foundation                                                                    

Philharmonic Orchestra of Indianapolis                                                

Project SEED                                                                                        

Promise Land Christian Community Church                                         

Purdue University                                                                                 

Redeemer Hospitality Mission                                                              

Ruth Lilly Center for Health Education                                                 

St. Florian Center                                                                                

St. John’s Community Care Services                                                    

St. Vincent Hospital Foundation                                                           

Salvation Army (2)                                                                               

Say Yes                                                                                                

School on Wheels                                                                                

Senior Connects Corp. (dba Net Literacy Corp.)                                   

Shepherd Community (2)                                                                     

Social Health Association of Indiana                                                    

Southeast Community Services                                                            

Speedway Baptist Church                                                                    

Speedway United Methodist Church                                                   

Stacey Toran Foundation                                                                     

Starfish Initiative                                                                                  

Storytelling Arts of Indiana                                                                  

Technology on the Move                                                                     

20/20 Inner Vision                                                                               

21st Century Charter School at Fall Creek                                           

21st Century Charter School at Fountain Square                                 

University of Notre Dame                                                                    

Urban Arts Consortium of Indianapolis                                                

Victory Inner-City Ministries                                                                 

Visions Ministries                                                                                 

VSA Arts of Indiana                                                                             

Westminster Neighborhood Ministries                                                 

Writers’ Center of Indianapolis                                                            

YMCA of Indianapolis (12)                                                                  

Young Audiences of Indiana                                                                

Young Life (Indianapolis)                                                                      

Youth Outdoor Exploration Academy                                                  

Y-Press                                                                                                 

Zion Hill Missionary Baptist Church                                                      
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Summer Youth Program Fund

Capital project grants for organizations to improve 
capacity to conduct summer programs

(30 competitive grants ranging from $1,446 to $25,000)       459,037

Art With a Heart                                                                                  

Boys & Girls Clubs of Indianapolis                                                        

Brightwood Community Center                                                           

Butler University                                                                                  

Camptown                                                                                          

Christel House Academy                                                                      

Concord Center Association                                                                

Ebenezer Missionary Baptist Church                                                    

Edna Martin Christian Center                                                              

Felege Hiywot Center                                                                          

Freetown Village                                                                                 

Great Commission Church of God                                                       

Happy Hollow Children’s Camp                                                           

Harrison Center for the Arts                                                                

Indiana State Museum Foundation                                                      

Indiana University Foundation                                                              

Indianapolis-Marion County Public Library Foundation                         

Indianapolis Parks Foundation                                                             

Religionand 
Philanthropy

Dollar amount approved in 2011

Jameson Camp                                                                                    

Kaleidoscope Church and Community Partnership                               

La Plaza                                                                                               

Mary Rigg Neighborhood Center                                                         

Philharmonic Orchestra of Indianapolis                                                

Salvation Army                                                                                    

Shepherd Community                                                                          

Technology on the Move                                                                     

Urban Arts Consortium of Indianapolis                                                

Westminster Neighborhood Ministries                                                 

Writers’ Center of Indianapolis                                                            

Zion Hill Missionary Baptist Church                                                      

Subtotal
Education Grants                                                               64,551,438

Subtotal
Youth Grants                                                                     12,539,835

Subtotal
Education and Youth Discretionary Grants                                99,400

Total
Education and Youth Grants                                              77,190,673

Alban Institute
Herndon, VA

Strategic partnership with Indianapolis Center 
for Congregations                                                                  686,213

Appalachia Service Project
Johnson City, TN

Support for the RESPONSE Program, a theologically-
based program of vocational discernment through 
volunteer service                                                                    600,000

Association of Theological Schools
Pittsburgh, PA

Training and support project for changing 
accrediting practices                                                               290,000

Center for Courage & Renewal
Bainbridge Island, WA

Continued support for Courage to Lead project                     995,000

Church Federation of Greater 
Indianapolis
Indianapolis, IN

Centennial history project                                                         23,500

Support for Benevolence Fund and Congregational 
Mentoring Program                                                                150,000

Council of Independent Colleges
Washington, DC

Deepening the theological exploration of vocation 
in independent higher-education project                             6,897,375

Diocese of Chicago
Chicago, IL

Episcopal Spiritual Life Initiative                                                35,000

Duke University
Durham, NC

Support for National Congregations Study (Wave III)               850,000



Hartford Seminary
Hartford, CT

Continuation of congregational studies 
leadership program                                                                700,000

Planning for Congregational Studies Team projects                   50,000

Harvard University
Cambridge, MA

World Religions in America, a Web-based 
resource project                                                                      200,000

Howard University
Washington, DC

Research project on effective ministries in black 
congregations                                                                     1,000,000

Indiana University Foundation
Bloomington, IN

Bible in American Life project                                                 507,140

Indianapolis Interfaith Hunger 
Initiative
Indianapolis, IN

Public awareness and fundraising efforts                                  25,000

Indianapolis Symphonic Choir
Indianapolis, IN

Continuing support for Sacred Choral Art Series                     256,000

Institute for American Values
New York, NY

Research on the role of the church in working with a 
culture grappling with end-of-life issues in a changed 
family landscape                                                                     378,642

Louisville Presbyterian 
Theological Seminary
Louisville, KY

Continuing support for the Louisville Institute project          7,916,536

Middletown Christian Church
Louisville, KY

Continuing support for the Academy of Preachers project   1,275,000

MPT Foundation
Owings Mills, MD

Chaplains, a television documentary project                           300,000

National Interfaith Cable Coalition
New York

ON Scripture, a Christian lectionary-based 
commentaries project                                                             750,000

Old South Church
Boston, MA

Support for the SALT Project, Web-based project to 
develop and share devotional resources                                    50,000

Partners for Sacred Places
Philadelphia, PA

New Dollars/New Partners research project                             300,000

Presbyterian Endowment 
Education Resource Network
Silver Spring, MD

Program to enhance estate and planned 
giving to churches                                                                  265,000

Princeton Theological Seminary
Princeton, NJ

Study of Theological Programs for 
High School Youth initiative                                                    510,423

Religion News
Westerville, OH

Support for Religion News Service restructuring                   3,486,284

St. Paul Lutheran Church
Davenport, IA

On-site pastoral ministry course pilot project                            45,000

Samaritan Interfaith Counseling 
Center
Naperville, IL

Resourcing congregations project                                           990,000

THIRTEEN
New York, NY

Support for the 15th season of Religion & Ethics 
NewsWeekly                                                                        4,500,000

Union Presbyterian Seminary
Richmond, VA

Continuing support for Resources for American 
Christianity website project                                                 1,187,547

Vanderbilt University
Nashville, TN

Continuing support for doctoral program in theology 
and practice                                                                        5,000,000

Wabash College
Crawfordsville, IN

Continuing support for Wabash Center for Teaching 
and Learning in Theology and Religion                                6,200,000

Continuing support for Wabash Pastoral 
Leadership Program                                                             1,573,281

Wheaton College
Wheaton, IL

Support for a project to study the legacy of 
Billy Graham                                                                           331,850
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World Communion of Reformed 
Churches
Grand Rapids, MI

Internship program for leadership development                        50,000

Clergy Renewal Program for 
Indiana Congregations

Program to strengthen Indiana congregations by 
supporting renewal and reflection periods for pastors

(19 grants ranging from $37,765 to $50,000)                        891,364

Aldersgate United Methodist Church, Evansville                                  

Calvary Church (nondenominational), Valparaiso                                 

Clinton Frame Mennonite Church (Mennonite 
Church USA), Goshen                                                                         

Exodus Church (Missionary Church USA), Bloomington                       

First Baptist Church (American Baptist Churches 
USA [ABC]), Seymour                                                                          

First Christian Church (Disciples of Christ), Greencastle                        

First United Methodist Church, Anderson                                            

Friendship Church (independent), Greenwood                                     

Korean Baptist Church of Indianapolis 
(Southern Baptist Convention)                                                             

Mount Zion Baptist Church (ABC), Indianapolis                                   

New Palestine Bible Church (nondenominational)                                

Open Door Fellowship (nondenominational), Kouts                             

Ovid Community Church (nondenominational), Anderson                   

Sacred Heart Catholic Church, Jeffersonville                                        

St. Patrick Catholic Church, Terre Haute                                               

St. Thomas Aquinas Catholic Church, Indianapolis                               

Second Baptist Church of Kokomo (Missionary Baptist)                       

Servants of Christ Lutheran Church (Evangelical Lutheran 
Church in America), Indianapolis                                                         

Urban Light Community Church (Church of God, 
General Conference), Muncie                                                              

National Clergy Renewal Program

Program to strengthen congregations by supporting 
renewal and reflection periods for pastors                                           

(158 grants ranging from $14,426 to $50,000)                   6,825,007

Advent Church (Episcopal), Lillian, Ala.                                                

Alamo Heights United Methodist Church, Spring Branch, Texas           

Alger Community Church (Christian Reformed Church in 
North America [CRCNA]), Bellingham, Wash.                                       

All Saints’ Episcopal Church, Fort Worth, Texas                                    

Ascension Lutheran Church (Evangelical Lutheran Church 
in America [ELCA]), South Burlington, Vt.                                            

Ascension Memorial Episcopal Church, Ipswich, Mass.                        

Bethany Lutheran Church (ELCA), Cherry Hills Village, Colo.                

Bethel Baptist Church (American Baptist Churches [ABC]), 
Columbia, Mo.                                                                                    

Bethesda Evangelical Lutheran Church (ELCA), 
Inver Grove Heights, Minn.                                                                  

Calvary United Methodist Church, Lewiston, Maine                             

Carmel Presbyterian Church (Presbyterian Church USA [PCUSA]), 
Charlotte, N.C.                                                                                    

Central Baptist Church (ABC), Quincy, Ill.                                             

Central Lutheran Church (ELCA), Anchorage, Alaska                           

Christ Chapel (independent), Ithaca, N.Y.                                            

Christ Church United (United Church of Christ [UCC]), 
Lowell, Mass.                                                                                      

Christ Evangelical Lutheran Church (ELCA) of Spry, York, Pa.               

Christ the King Moravian Church, Durham, N.C.                                 

Christ United Methodist Church, Sugar Land, Texas                             

Christ’s Family Church (Reformed Church in America), 
Davenport, Iowa                                                                                  

Church in the Wildwood (UCC), Green Mountain Falls, Colo.              

Concord United Methodist Church, Englewood, Ohio                         

Concordia Lutheran Church (Lutheran Church, Missouri Synod), 
Lakewood, Colo.                                                                                 

Concordia Lutheran Church (ELCA), Manchester, Conn.                      

Congregational Church (UCC), Patchogue, N.Y.                                  

Coolwater Christian Church (Disciples of Christ), Scottsdale, Ariz.       

Cornerstone United Methodist Church, Hamilton, Ohio                       

Countryside Christian Church (Disciples of Christ), Mission, Kan.         

Covenant Baptist United Church of Christ (Progressive 
National Baptist Convention/ABC/UCC), Washington                          

Cross of Life Lutheran Church (ELCA), Brookfield, Wis.                        

Custer (S.D.) Lutheran Fellowship (ELCA)                                             

Divine Redeemer Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), San Antonio               

Downtown Presbyterian Church  (Presbyterian Church in America),
Greenville, S.C.                                                                                    

East Liberty Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Pittsburgh                          

Edmonds (Wash.) United Methodist Church                                        

Elizabethtown (Pa.) Church of the Brethren                                         

Emmanuel Christian Reformed Church (CRCNA), Sauk Village, Ill.       

Episcopal Church of the Holy Spirit, Lebanon, N.J.                               

Evangelical Covenant Church (ECC), Fort Collins, Colo.                       

Evangelical Lutheran Church (ELCA), Black River Falls, Wis.                  

Fairmount Avenue United Methodist Church, St. Paul, Minn.              

Faith Covenant Church (ECC), Manistee, Mich.                                   

Fellowship United Methodist Church, Trophy Club, Texas                     

First Baptist Church (Cooperative Baptist Fellowship [CBF]), 
Oklahoma City                                                                                    

First Baptist Church (CBF/Southern Baptist Convention [SBC]), 
Pensacola, Fla.                                                                                     

First Christian Church (Disciples of Christ), Baton Rouge, La.                

First Christian Church (Disciples of Christ), Bentonville, Ark.                 

First Christian Reformed Church (CRCNA), Denver                               

First Christian Reformed Church (CRCNA), Hudsonville, Mich.             

First Congregational Church (UCC), Berlin, Vt.                                     

First Congregational Church (UCC), Colorado Springs, Colo.               

First Congregational Church (UCC), Winchester, Mass.                        

First English Lutheran Church (ELCA), Appleton, Wis.                          

First Friends Meeting (Quaker), Greensboro, N.C.                                

First Lutheran Church (ELCA), St. Joseph, Mo.                                     

First Mennonite Church, Urbana, Ill.                                                    

First Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Atlanta                                          

First Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Dunedin, Fla.                                 

First Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Franklin, Tenn.                               

First Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Holland, Mich.                               

First Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Ottawa, Ill.                                     

First Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Pendleton, Ore.                             

First United Methodist Church, Oak Lawn, Ill.                                      

Fox Chapel Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Pittsburgh                           
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Freedom Baptist Church (SBC), Owasso, Okla.                                     

Galloway Memorial United Methodist Church, Jackson, Miss.              

Grace Episcopal Church, Cullman, Ala.                                                

Grace Evangelical Lutheran Church (ELCA), Oak Ridge, Tenn.              

Gustavus Adolphus Lutheran Church (ELCA), Foley, Minn.                   

Highland Community Church (Evangelical Free Church 
of America), Wausau, Wis.                                                                  

Holy Cross Episcopal Church, Dunn Loring, Va.                                    

Holy Trinity Church (nondenominational), Chicago                              

Huron Hills Baptist Church (Baptist General Conference), 
Ann Arbor, Mich.                                                                                 

Ivanrest Christian Reformed Church (CRCNA), Grandville, Mich.          

John Knox Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Greenville, S.C.                    

Kent (Wash.) Lutheran Church (ELCA)                                                 

Korean Emmanuel United Methodist Church, Englewood, Colo.         

Lake Forest Church (Evangelical Presbyterian), Huntersville, N.C.          

Lebanon (Ohio) Presbyterian Church (PCUSA)                                      

Mater Christi Church (Catholic), North Riverside, Ill.                             

Metropolitan Community Church, Omaha, Neb.                                  

Mountainburg (Ark.) Presbyterian Church (PCUSA)                              

Mukilteo (Wash.) Presbyterian Church (PCUSA)                                   

Mullin Chapel (African Methodist Episcopal Church), 
Shelbyville, Tenn.                                                                                 

Naches (Wash.) Presbyterian Church (PCUSA)                                      

Newhope Church (Wesleyan), Durham, N.C.                                       

Niccolls Memorial Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Old Forge, N.Y.         

Nineteenth Street Baptist Church (ABC), Washington                          

Noroton Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Darien, Conn.                         

Northwoods Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Houston                           

Nuuanu Congregational Church (UCC), Honolulu                                

Oak Ridge (N.C.) Presbyterian Church (PCUSA)                                    

Our Savior’s Lutheran Church (ELCA), Circle Pines, Minn.                    

Our Savior’s Lutheran Church (ELCA), Oconomowoc, Wis.                  

Park Ridge (Ill.) Community Church (UCC)                                           

Parkview Congregational Church (UCC), Aurora, Colo.                        

Pigeon Creek Evangelical Lutheran Church (ELCA), 
Pigeon Falls, Wis.                                                                                 

Plymouth (Minn.) Covenant Church (ECC)                                           

Powhatan (Va.) Community Church (Virginia Baptist)                           

Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Lawrenceville, N.J.                                 

Providence Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Fairfax, Va.                          

Redmond (Wash.) Presbyterian Church (PCUSA)                                  

Riviera United Church of Christ, Palm Bay, Fla.                                     

St. Alban’s Episcopal Church, Manchaca, Texas                                   

St. Alban’s Episcopal Church, Newton Square, Pa.                               

St. Andrew United Church of Christ, Sarasota, Fla.                              

St. Andrew’s Episcopal Church, Hopkinton, N.H.                                 

St. Andrew’s Episcopal Church, Seattle                                                

St. Anthony on the Lake (Catholic), Pewaukee, Wis.                            

St. Charles (Ill.) Congregational United Church of Christ                      

St. Clement’s Episcopal Church, Canton, Ga.                                      

St. Cletus Catholic Church, LaGrange, Ill.                                             

St. Cyprian’s Episcopal Church, Franklin, N.C.                                      

St. Dunstan’s Episcopal Church, McLean, Va.                                       

St. James Evangelical Lutheran Church (ELCA), Verona, Wis.                

St. James’ Episcopal Church, Indian Head, Md.                                    

St. John Vianney Catholic Church, Brookfield, Wis.                              

St. John’s Episcopal Church, Mankato, Minn.                                      

St. John’s United Church of Christ, Council Bluffs, Iowa                      

St. Joseph Catholic Church, Spearfish, S.D.                                          

St. Joseph Church (Catholic), Lake Orion, Mich.                                   

St. Luke’s Episcopal Church, Denver                                                    

St. Luke’s Lutheran Church (ELCA), Summerville, S.C.                          

St. Mark’s Lutheran Church by the Narrows (ELCA), 
Tacoma, Wash.                                                                                    

St. Mary’s By-the-Sea Episcopal Church, Point Pleasant 
Beach, N.J.                                                                                          

St. Matthew’s Episcopal Church, Rapid City, S.D.                                 

St. Michael Lutheran Church (ELCA), Wellington, Fla.                          

St. Paul United Church of Christ, Nashville, Ill.                                     

St. Paul’s Cathedral (Episcopal), Boston                                               

St. Paul’s Episcopal Church, Baltimore                                                 

St. Paul’s Episcopal Church, Stockbridge, Mass.                                   

St. Peter’s Episcopal Church, Phoenixville, Pa.                                      

St. Peter’s Lutheran Church (ELCA), Harwich, Mass.                            

St. Stephens-Bethlehem United Church of Christ, Buffalo, N.Y.            

St. Thomas the Apostle Catholic Church, Long Beach, Miss.                

San Antonio Mennonite Christian Fellowship                                       

Seattle Chinese Alliance Church (Christian and Missionary 
Alliance)                                                                                              

Second Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Roanoke, Va.                            

Spring Arbor (Mich.) Free Methodist Church                                        

Sumner (Wash.) First Christian Church (Disciples of Christ)                   

Third Baptist Church (ABC/SBC/CBF), St. Louis                                     

Trinity Church (Episcopal), Houston                                                      

Trinity Episcopal Church, Manassas, Va.                                               

Trinity Episcopal Church, Milford, Mass.                                               

Trinity Lutheran Congregation (ELCA), Minneapolis                             

Trinity Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Anchorage, Alaska                      

Trinity Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Bixby, Okla.                                 

United Church of Chapel Hill (N.C.) (UCC)                                           

United Disciples of Christ Church, Charleston, W.Va.                           

United Parish of Upton (Mass.) (UCC/United Methodist Church)          

Wellesley (Mass.) Congregational Church (UCC)                                 

West End Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), New York                              

West New Bern (N.C.) Presbyterian Church (PCUSA)                            

Westminster Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Wilmington, Del.              

Willow Grove Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Scotch Plains, N.J.           

Willow Ridge Church (SBC), Lexington, S.C.                                        

Woodlake United Methodist Church, Midlothian, Va.                          

Woodlawn Christian Reformed Church (CRCNA), 
Grand Rapids, Mich.                                                                            

Zion Lutheran Church (ELCA), Iowa City, Iowa                                     
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Initiative to Address Economic 
Challenges Facing Indiana Pastors

Program that helps regional judicatories serving Indiana 
congregations develop new programs to reduce or alleviate 
some key financial pressures that undermine the 
leadership effectiveness of their pastors

(9 grants ranging from $75,000 to $199,125)                        931,500

Indiana Baptist Convention, Indianapolis                                             

Indiana Central District of the Wesleyan Church, Fishers                      

Indiana Church of God State Office, Greenwood                                 

Indiana Ministries of the Church of God, Fishers                                  

Indiana Yearly Meeting of the Religious Society of Friends, 
Muncie                                                                                                

Indiana-Kentucky Synod Evangelical Lutheran Church 
in America, Indianapolis                                                                      

Missionary Church, North Central District, Elkhart                               

Northern Indiana District Church of the Brethren, Nappanee               

Southwest Indiana District Church of the Nazarene, Bedford               

Sustaining Pastoral Excellence Program

Continuing support for projects that focus attention and 
energy on maintaining high-caliber ministry among pastoral 
leaders nationwide

(3 grants ranging from $300,000 to $1,000,000)                2,098,584

Auburn Theological Seminary, New York                                             

Capital Region Theological Center, Albany, N.Y.                                   

Episcopal Theological Seminary of the Southwest, 
Austin, Texas                                                                                       

Transition-into-Ministry Program

Programs for selected churches and organizations to 
help new pastors make the transition from seminary 
student to pastoral leader

(6 grants ranging from $416,505 to $1,298,828)                4,322,350

Charles Street AME Church, Roxbury, Mass.                                        

Concord Baptist Church of Christ, Brooklyn, N.Y.                                 

Cooperative Baptist Fellowship, Atlanta                                               

Disciples Foundation, Nashville, Tenn.                                                  

Fund for Theological Education, Atlanta                                              

Wesley Theological Seminary, Washington                                           

PHILANTHROPY

Association for Research on 
Nonprofit Organizations 
and Voluntary Action (ARNOVA)
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                                     240,000

Council on Foundations
Arlington, VA

2011 membership dues                                                            55,000

Foundation Center
New York, NY

General operating support                                                     125,000

GuideStar USA
Williamsburg, VA

2011 membership dues                                                            50,000

Independent Sector
Washington, DC

2011 membership dues                                                            17,500

Indiana Grantmakers Alliance 
Foundation
Indianapolis, IN

Recognition program for nonprofit organizations                     10,000

Philanthropy Roundtable
Washington, DC

General operating support                                                     100,000

                                                                                                          

Subtotal
Religion Grants                                                                  63,443,596

Subtotal
Philanthropy Grants                                                                597,500

Subtotal
Religion Discretionary Grants                                                    45,000

Total
Religion and Philanthropy Grants                                       64,086,096

                                                                                                          

Grand Total - All Divisions
                                                                                      

208,699,105

                                                                                                          

Incentive Grants for Employee Giving                                  7,176,129

                                                                                                          

Total – All Grants Approved*                                           215,875,234

                                                                                                          

* Reconciliation to Financial Statements

To reconcile the total of all grants approved with the 
financial statements, the following adjustments 
must be made:                                                                                 

Adjustments for decommitments                                      (42,079)

Adjustments for refunds                                                 (712,516)

Net Total – Grant Approvals                                             215,120,639
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Community Development 
Our community development grantmaking focuses primarily on 

enhancing the quality of life in Indianapolis and Indiana. We grant

funds for human and social needs, central-city and neighborhood re-

vitalization, low-income housing, and arts and culture in Indianapolis.

On a statewide level, we routinely offer initiatives to support

community foundations and United Ways.

Education 
Our education grantmaking revolves primarily around our interest 

in improving education in Indiana, with special emphasis on higher

education and on programs designed to increase the percentage of

Indiana residents with bachelor’s degrees. We support a number of

invitational grant programs, many of which are aimed at Indiana’s

colleges’ and universities’ abilities to increase the state’s educational

attainment level.

We also support on an invitational basis programs that 

enhance higher education opportunities for African Americans, 

Native Americans and Hispanic Americans throughout the country.

Religion
Our primary aim in this field is to deepen and enrich the religious lives

of American Christians, principally by supporting efforts to encourage,

support and educate a new generation of talented pastors and to

strengthen current pastors in their capacities for excellence in ministry.

We seek to help congregations be vibrant, healthy communities

of faith, and we encourage efforts that make available and accessible

the wisdom of the Christian tradition for contemporary life. We 

support theological seminaries and other educational and religious

institutions that share these aims. We also support projects that

strengthen the contributions that religious ideas, practices, values

and institutions make to the common good of our society.

Youth and Philanthropy
Besides grantmaking in our three principal areas of community devel-

opment, education and religion, the Endowment also awards grants

in support of youth development and to advance and study philan-

thropy and the nonprofit sector.

Our youth grants support direct-service organizations in Marion

County, Ind., build the capacity of intermediary organizations

throughout the state, and provide professional development for the

staffs and volunteer leadership of these organizations.

Regarding philanthropy, we seek to support and nurture good

stewardship among the trustees and executives of charitable organi-

zations by providing occasional funding for research on the gover-

nance and effectiveness of nonprofit organizations. We also support

efforts to advance philanthropy by supporting selective research

projects and educational programs focused on charitable giving and

fundraising.

Grant Guidelines and Procedures 

Lilly Endowment receives several thousand grant requests each year, but we can fund only a small 
percentage of manyworthwhile proposals. These guidelines, formulated over the years by our founders
and the Endowment's Board of Directors, govern our grantmaking decisions.

Areas of interest 
We consider proposals in three program areas: community development, education and religion. We also are interested in 

initiatives that benefit youth and promote the causes of philanthropy and volunteerism.
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Geographic priorities
In keeping with the founders’ wishes, the Endowment gives priority

to efforts that improve the quality of life in Indianapolis and Indiana.

This priority applies to grants for community development and

elementary/secondary education. Exceptions include occasional 

funding for national programs that complement or relate to our

work in Indiana.

The Endowment’s interest in higher education extends to 

Indiana colleges and universities and nationwide to historically black

colleges and Native American colleges and programs to increase 

access to college by Hispanic Americans. Grants to institutions of

higher learning outside Indiana generally are restricted to programs 

offered by the Endowment on an invitational basis.

Our work in religion is national in scope, as is our support 

relating to philanthropy and the nonprofit sector. 

Grants for international purposes are limited to a few United

States-based economics and public policy programs affecting North

and South American countries.

Limitations 
The Endowment generally does not support the following:

q Loans or cash grants to private individuals. Most grant money is

awarded to charitable entities. We do not assist individuals with

personal or business-related finances.

q Requests to discharge preexisting debts of individuals 

or organizations.

q Health-care projects.

q Mass media projects. The Endowment does not typically fund

mass media projects and limits consideration to projects that fall

squarely within our specific program areas.

q Endowments or endowed chairs. The Endowment targets its

grants for specific purposes. Except in unusual cases involving

long-standing grantees or special initiatives, we do not contribute

to endowments or endowed chairs.

q Libraries. Except for special initiatives, the Endowment regularly

declines grants to public libraries outside Marion County, Ind.

q Outside Indianapolis. Requests usually are declined for building

campaigns, elementary/secondary education, arts and culture,

human service projects, general operating funds and neighbor-

hood projects (except as part of invitational grant programs).

Application process
If you believe your charitable organization has a request that fits

within our guidelines, we suggest that you write us a preliminary 

letter of no more than two pages. The letter should tell us about

your organization, the project you have in mind and the amount 

of support you will need from us. We respond in writing to all 

preliminary inquiries. In cases that warrant further consideration, 

we may ask you to furnish a full proposal. Emailed or faxed re-

quests will not be considered.

For arts and cultural organizations in Marion County, Ind.

Several local grantmaking foundations have collaborated on the 

development of a shared grant application form. This form was 

developed in consultation with leaders of local arts and cultural 

organizations with a goal of making fundraising efforts more efficient.

The Shared Grant Application Form should be used to apply for general

operating support. For specific project requests, the Project Grant 

Attachment Form should be completed along with the Shared Grant

Application Form. While Lilly Endowment will accept these shared

forms from local arts and cultural organizations, applicants are not

required to use them, and the Endowment reserves the right to request

additional information. Applications should be submitted in hard

copy. Links to the forms are on the Endowment’s website.

Approval process 
A program director generally reviews grant proposals. Those that

meet the criteria for consideration proceed to the appropriate divi-

sion for review, then to the corporate officers, and finally to members

of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors considers grants in

March, June, September, November and December. The grant review

process takes three to six months. All grantseekers receive written

notification of our decisions.
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Program Office

Lilly Endowment Inc.

2801 N. Meridian St.

Post Office Box 88068

Indianapolis, IN 46208-0068

Telephone:  317/924-5471

Website:  lillyendowment.org



54 Copyright 2012  Lilly Endowment Inc.

Acknowledgments

Design and Production

David Stahl

Photography

Chris Minnick

page 13 — Photo courtesy of WFYI

Printing

Mossberg & Company Inc.

Writing

Holly G. Miller

Alicia Dean Carlson

Editing

Jean B. Rose, Contributing Editor

Gordon Englehart, Copy Editor

Boots, leg warmers, tutu – perfect! 

Amy Bowling, 7, models brightly for her cousin Sophia, 8, in

the Little Green Bean Boutique on Indianapolis’ Eastside. 

“Supervising” are (left to right) Sue McMullen; her daughter

Heather McMullen (in yellow scarf), and Amanda Bowling,

Amy’s mother and Sophia’s aunt. Heather owns the boutique,

which was one of many small businesses that benefited from

the Super Bowl Legacy Project.

The investment of $154 million spawned a spate of 

development activity in the 22-square-mile area that has seen

rough times. The centerpiece is the Chase Near Eastside 

Community Center, but a partial list of other projects includes

more than 397 homes or apartments built, rehabilitated or 

repaired; 24 new or fully rehabilitated homes for sale in St.

Clair Place Neighborhood; five planned development projects,

including Clifford Corners, a mixed-use project; eight new 

retail businesses; technical assistance to 67 businesses; and

more than 2,000 trees planted.
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